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Statement from Professor Craig Harris,
our Accountable Officer
1.

Welcome to the Annual Report and Accounts for 2020/21.

2.

It sets out briefly what we are working to achieve, what might stop us from achieving this and a summary
of our performance for the year.

3.

Last year was a year like no other, and hopefully we will never experience another like it.

4.

I would like to start this report by acknowledging the huge debt of gratitude we owe our NHS staff, care
staff and wider partners – particularly those on the frontline who have been real life everyday heroes.

5.

Thank you to all our residents who have put the needs of the community and our most vulnerable
above themselves and followed the government guidance and the many restrictions placed on us. I
know it has been hard, but it has made a difference.

6.

Overnight services changed and lives changed. This has affected each and every one of us in a
different way, and I know many people will have had a very challenging year.

7.

From a NHS perspective, the services don’t look the same this year as they did last year. We always
talk about transforming services, but no one could have imagined such a dramatic almost
instantaneous change. Some of these changes will stay, many will go as we seek to restore and
recover, making the best of our new skills as well as bringing with us the best of the old way.

8.

This report will show some of the changes through the activities we report on and our performance
figures show the wider impact of the pandemic on services and people. Everything has been touched
by COVID19 and you will see that throughout.

9.

We also have another challenging year ahead, as we seek to bring waiting lists back down and get
people the help they need and unfortunately have had to wait longer for than we would ever have liked.

10.

Thank you once again to all of you and I hope you can see throughout the report how hard the NHS has
worked to keep you safe and well throughout.

Performance Overview
Purpose and Activities
11.

Despite the challenges the pandemic has posed our health system, our ambition is still to make sure that
local people have access to the highest quality health and care services they need, when they need them.

12.

In the current circumstances, access to services may be remote as opposed to face-to-face, but we have
supported local providers, and GP Practices in particular, to make sure that they maintain high quality
services throughout.
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13.

We continue to want our services to be co-designed and delivered in partnership when possible with our
patients, the public and partners to meet the individual’s needs. This should mean that everyone who
uses services should have a positive experience and feel supported to make active decisions about their
own care.

14.

This is reflected in our corporate priorities which are:

Priority 1: Commissioning Health and Care Services
Our Part

Your Part

 We will, commission health and care services that

 Make use of the most appropriate services

meet the needs of local people, delivering high
quality, clinically viable, affordable, efficient and
responsive services that improve the overall
experience for each person at every contact, across
their life course.

provided within your community to help you gain
positive benefits for your health and happiness.

Priority 2: Equality and Inclusion - Everyone Counts
Our Part

Your Part

 We will, as a health and social care partnership,

 Be aware of the services available in your local

ensure that everyone has fair and equitable access
to health and care services, in order for each person
to fulfil their individual potential to live longer, and
have happy and healthier lives.

community that can support you in making
positive healthy choices and to promote good
health.

Priority 3: Innovation and Sustainability
Our Part

Your Part

 We will, develop, implement and sustain effective

 Take the opportunity to work with us in shaping

initiatives that will lead to improvements in quality
and experience for local people, whilst ensuring that
we make the best use of the ‘Wigan Pound’.

your future services.
Tell us about your thoughts on plans for new
services and on changes to the existing services.

Priority 4: Financial Affordability
Our Part

Your Part

 We will commission high quality health and care

 Make positive healthy choices to promote good

services within the allocated financial resources that
are available to the Borough.

health.
Use the right services to meet your health and
care needs, do not use emergency services
unless you have an urgent health need.
Attend your appointments or advise services when
you are unable to attend to ensure the
appointment can be reallocated.




15.

We deliver our corporate priorities by working with our partners in Healthier Wigan. This year that has
meant:
•

Changing services across the whole NHS to make sure they are still accessible to all residents
during the pandemic;

•

Ensuring that infection prevention and control is properly implemented, so that when people need
to use services they feel safe and confident whilst with us;
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•

Promoting positive wellbeing and supporting mental health services as people face unimaginable
challenges in their personal life;

•

Supporting residents to be well and empower them to look after their own health and wellbeing;

•

Helping residents to take advantage of digital technology and the benefits that brings during the
pandemic;

•

Focusing on those patients who are most vulnerable and need the most support from services,
including offering more services to those who needed to shield or self-isolate;

•

Continue to improve the quality of community and mental health services with a focus on creating
an integrated health and care service, working in partnership with providers and Council colleagues;

•

Working closely with our partners and providers to create
a joined up, sustainable service that focuses on
people’s strengths and the assets in their communities
to support them to be well and stay independent for as
long as possible;

•

Working with our Council colleagues to further integrate
commissioning and make the most of the money available to our area;

•

Commissioning services that are the best they can be, all working together to make sure services
are safe, sustainable and delivering high quality care;

•

Towards the end of the year Healthier Wigan Partnership’s priorities were refreshed and now focus
on:
▪

COVID secure and system/community resilience

▪

Restoration, Recovery and Resilience including social and economic factors

▪

Improving population health and wellbeing.
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HIGHLIGHTS FROM THE YEAR:

Throughout 2020 an extensive amount of work was carried out to commission and decommission bed capacity across Wigan care home providers that would allow COVID-19
negative patients, including specialised provision for stroke survivors, to be cared for
more appropriately outside of the acute setting.
Mental Health services successfully transferred to a new provider (Greater
Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust) at the end of March 2021.
Services will be transformed following the transfer through our new outcome
based service specification “Transfer and Transform”.
The CCG's Urgent Care Team have worked collaboratively with partners
from across the whole system including Acute, Greater Manchester Health
and Social Care Partnership, Community Services and Primary Care to
implement Urgent Emergency Care by Appointment.
This year the CCG has invested significant time and funding to support flu
and COVID-19 vaccinations. These programmes have been essential to
protect those at risk, prevent ill-health and minimise further impact on the
NHS and social care.

By 28/03/21: 97,000 COVID-19 vaccines administered by the borough's
Primary Care Networks and 14,000 by WWL Trust. Total: 111,000, of which
104,000 are first doses and 7,000 are second doses.

Over the past 12 months general practice has demonstrated an ability to
transform services, embrace digital working, collaborate with partners in our
neighbourhoods to deliver new ways of working and innovate to improve the
experience and outcomes for our residents.
To support patient flow out of hospital for patients who were fit for discharge a GP led
ward was developed at Leigh Infirmary which provided a 10 bedded unit for patients who
no longer needed to be in an acute hospital setting but needed further rehabilitation
before they could go back to their usual place of residence.

General Practice and Primary Care Networks
16.

The COVID-19 vaccination programme has been successfully led and delivered by our Primary Care
Networks (PCNs) in collaboration with the CCG and local partners.

17.

The examples provided below are by no means an exhaustive list but provide an indication of the pivotal
role that general practice has played over the past year in protecting and improving the health and
wellbeing of our population and supporting transformation and quality improvements across our health
and care system.
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18.

Embracing Digital Working - General practice has been transformed in the past 12 months through the
introduction of a digital first offer and in using new IT platforms to support working across practices.

19.

Collaborative working - Through PCNs, practices have worked collectively to improve the quality and
access of services, for example the delivery of flu clinics and cervical screening programmes. The huge
achievement of delivering the COVID vaccination programme at such scale and pace could not have
been achieved without collaboration. Throughout the pandemic practices have provided mutual aid and
support to strengthen resilience across PCNs.

20.

System working - Over the past 12 months general practice has demonstrated its ability to respond to
and support other parts of the health and care system, for example in the rapid establishment of the Leigh
Ward to facilitate safe and timely discharge from hospital during the first phase of the pandemic and the
provision of staff to support Wrightington as a ‘cold site’ – one treating non-COVID patients.

21.

Responsiveness - General practice is in a good position to be able to respond at pace to new challenges.
Our federations have done just that throughout the pandemic, establishing ‘hot’ (see below) clinics and
‘hot’ home visiting services; setting up booking systems for vaccination centres and providing a supply of
high quality staff through the workforce service.

22.

Managing Contract Change - To ensure the continued provision of Primary Care Services from High
Street Medical Practice (Kidglove House, Golborne), a caretaker was established in December 2019
whilst a full procurement was completed.

23.

The procurement ensured that a robust assessment and evaluation was undertaken to ensure the best
possible provider was selected to hold the contract from 1st April 2021.

24.

Throughout all stages the CCG maintained engagement with the Practice’s Patient Participation Group
(PPG) and the local community. The procurement was overseen by the CCG Primary Care
Commissioning Committee, which approved the outcome of the recommended bidder report in November
2020, awarding the contract to The Grange Practice led by Dr S Zaman. Mobilisation was successfully
completed during Quarter 4, with the new contract in place on schedule.

25.

Developing our Workforce - General practice has embraced new workforce models that focus on
creating a multi-professional team in PCNs. This will expand over the coming years, and we are focusing
on training and development opportunities through the strengthening of PCNs as learning environments.

26.

COVID-19 Response: HOT Clinics and Visiting - to maintain safe working environments in general
practice, whilst ensuring patients could still be seen face to face by clinicians where COVID symptoms
were present, the HOT Clinic and Visiting Service has been established. The service receives referrals
from practices and utilises a triage approach to ensure that patients are supported as safely as possible.
The service operates from two locations, Leigh and Tyldesley, with two clinicians also working in a roving
capacity able to complete home visits where required. Between thirty and forty patients are supported
by the service on a daily basis, and this is ensuring that we are able to keep our wider general practice
locations clean and safe for staff and patients.

27.

Care Quality Commission – 57 of our 58 GP Practices are rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by the CQC
which underlines the high standards of healthcare provided right across our borough.

28.

Primary Care Estate - Significant investment in the primary care estate across the borough continued to
break new ground with state of the art GP Practice developments being progressed during the last 12
months and supporting the creation of COVID-19 secure environments to keep staff and patients

9

safe. Ashton Health Centre, completed in December 2019, has demonstrated how integrated working
and forward thinking has ensured services can continue to be delivered safely to local communities, an
approach we will look to continue into the future.

Vaccination Programmes
29.

This year the CCG has invested significant time and funding to support influenza and COVID
vaccinations. These vaccination programmes have been essential to protect those at risk, prevent illhealth and minimise further impact on the NHS and social care.

30.

Ambitious targets have been set and delivery models and vaccination centres required accessibility,
compliance with social distancing, Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) and Infection, Prevention and
Control (IPC) guidance including:
•
•
•
•

31.

Regular hand hygiene
Face masks and coverings
2 metre social distancing for patients and staff
Decontamination of frequent touch points and between patients

The CCG worked with GP Practices and PCNs to deliver these programmes through high volume
vaccination clinics at four sites across the borough:
•
•
•
•

Golborne Parkside
Leigh Leisure Centre
Robin Park Leisure Centre
St Peters Pavilion, Hindley

32.

This delivery method was developed and trialled with the influenza vaccination programme in anticipation
of the COVID programme, allowing us to develop effective systems to manage patient flow to ensure safe
and efficient delivery.

33.

These programmes have required the CCG to:
•

Provide strategic support – working with all PCNs, Wigan Council, Wrightington, Wigan & Leigh
Teaching Hospitals NHS FT (WWL) and linking with Greater Manchester to ensure services are
accessible by all residents within the borough, uptake targets are achieved, share learnings to
improve systems, and avoid duplication of effort;

•

Develop an effective borough wide booking system – accessible by all GP Practices, responsive to
changing needs e.g. ability to alter appointment lengths or block appointments quickly, and
facilitates booking of second dose appointments at the appropriate interval and on-line booking;

•

Manage logistics for the sites – the CCG has coordinated all clinic dates with the PCN groupings
and facilitated patient bookings, site access, security, cleaners, support staff, waste management,
and supplies. We have produced and regularly review the risk assessment for the venues along
with a comprehensive range of policies and procedures to ensure effective and safe delivery of the
service and compliance with all national guidance and legislation;

•

Provide on-site operational support – the CCG provides on-site IT support at all clinics to ensure
staff have access to the required systems, resolve issues as they occur and validate data. We
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manage the cold chain and vaccine requirements at all sites ensuring stock levels are managed,
vaccine is transported safely where required e.g., care homes, completing all Pfizer dilution to
ensure immuniser time is used to best effect and maintain a comprehensive audit trail;
•

Support training and employment of additional workforce – the CCG has funded and supported
Wigan Federated Healthcare to set up a vaccinator workforce service along with a comprehensive
training program. We have set up and co-ordinated support roles across all four sites linking with
Wigan Council, Wigan Borough Community Partnership and WWL to promote the volunteer
opportunities;

•

Support effective patient and practice communications – the CCG manages all media enquiries and
all requests for site visits, we support practices with social media and other messages for patients,
we have produced patient information to encourage vaccine uptake and support access to the
vaccination sites. We communicate regularly with all GP Practices and immunisers via frequently
asked questions and shared learning to ensure practices and immunisers have the information they
require to deliver the program effectively.

34.

Influenza vaccine uptake for the borough in the 2020/21 program was:
• 65 years and older – 82%
• Under 65 at risk – 54%
• Ages 2-3 years – 60%
• 50-65 years (new group this year) – 43%

35.

At the end of March 2021 the COVID vaccination program is open to cohorts 1-9 which includes all people
aged 50 and over, those who are over 16 and clinically extremely vulnerable, and those over 16 years
who are at risk.

36.

COVID vaccine uptake for the borough is:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

99% of all over 80s
98% of 75 to 79 year olds
97% of 70 to 74 year olds
95% of 65 to 69 year olds
91% of 60 to 64 year olds
86% of 55 to 59 year olds
81% of 50 to 54 year olds
92% of Clinically Extremely Vulnerable
81% of Clinically Vulnerable

Wider Performance Indicators
37.

We are required to measure our performance against a number of national and local indicators which are
described in the next few pages. The Governing Body and Integrated Commissioning Committee receive
reports about our performance and look to drive continual improvement.

COVID-19 Impact
38.

Due to the pandemic, NHS services have had to change significantly to meet the challenge. During the
peak of infections, almost all routine elective surgery was paused, resulting in delayed referrals,
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screenings, tests and appointments. Elective care was prioritised to ensure urgent medical conditions,
including cancer, were still seen and treated. This has led to disruption in the normal flow of patients
through the health care system, which has resulted in an increase in the number patients waiting for
hospital treatment.

Urgent Care Attendances
39.

At the start of the pandemic there was a significant reduction in the number of people attending urgent
care sites across Wigan (A&E and Walk-In-Centre), with attendances down by over 50% in April 2020,
compared with the same month the previous year. This was caused by a combination of reductions in
injuries during lockdown and public reluctance to use urgent care services, while infection rates were
high. The volume of attendances has risen steadily throughout the year and is now similar to those seen
in the previous year. In addition, although the number of people treated, admitted or discharged within 4
hours was below the national standard of 95%, the full year figure of 83.8% for the A&E site at Royal
Albert Edward Infirmary was an improvement on that seen during 2019/20. At the Leigh Walk In Centre,
99.9% of people left within 4 hours.

Referral to Treatment Waiting Times
40.

During the pandemic, non-urgent planned care has been prioritised to focus on urgent and critical
conditions and procedures. This has resulted in an increased backlog of people waiting to start treatment
and longer waiting times. As of the end of January 2021, there were 28,566 people waiting for treatment,
compared with 20,253 at April 2020. In addition, 1,775 people were waiting more than 52 weeks at the
end of January 2021 compared with 54 at April 2020.

Diagnostic Activity and Waiting Times
41.

Diagnostic test activity and waiting times have been impacted by the pandemic. As of the end of January
2021, the number of patients waiting was 6,497, with 1,686 waiting longer than 6 weeks. At the start of
the year the number of waiters was 5,438, with just 174 waiting longer than 6 weeks. Activity has risen
steadily throughout the year from 3,986 in April 2020 to 13,592 in January 2021.

Cancer Activity and Treatments
42.

During 2019/20, an average of 1,091 patients were seen following an urgent GP referral for suspected
cancer. At the start of the pandemic, this monthly average reduced to 516 per month during April and
May 2020. Since this time, numbers seen have returned to a monthly average of 1,102 during the June
to January period. During 2019/20, an average of 72 patients received their first definitive treatment
following a GP referral. The monthly average reduced to 53 per month during April to August 2020 period.
Since this time, numbers seen have returned to a monthly average of 78, from September to January
period.

Mental Health: IAPT Treatments
43.

Since the start of the pandemic there has been widespread concern about its impact and consequent
lockdown measures on mental health. The provider services have worked hard to ensure that people can
continue to get the care they need. During April to December 2019, an average of 562 patients per month
received their first IAPT treatment at the local mental health provider (NW Boroughs). This figure reduced
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to an average of 255 patients per month, during April to May 2020. Thereafter, activity increased and by
the August to December 2020 period the monthly average increased to 543.

Performance against the CCG’s primary financial indicators
44.

Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended). Note 22 of the financial statements refer to the financial performance of the CCG in
relation to its statutory duties.

45.

The CCG has met all of its statutory financial duties in 2020/21, and its financial control total as set by
NHS England/Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (GMH&SCP).

46.

As the local leader of NHS services in Wigan Borough, the CCG has:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Achieved operational financial balance;
Achieved its cash target;
Maintained the costs of CCG administration below its budget £6.0m;
Spent £626.3m in the year on healthcare services for the population of Wigan Borough;
Invested in mental health services to meet national investment standards, and
Invested in primary care above the £48.7m delegated by NHS England.

47.

The areas of total CCG expenditure are shown in the following graphic:

48.

In 2020-21 the CCG was under command and control for the first six months of the financial year to help
reduce the pressures on NHS organisations and support them during to the pandemic.

13

49.

For the remaining six months of the year the financial envelope was held at a system level by Greater
Manchester, and the system was given additional financial responsibilities to allocate funding across the
system, and to achieve breakeven at system level.

50.

Secondary care hospital costs represent almost half of the CCG’s expenditure. These include services
provided by NHS hospitals such as Accident and Emergency, Maternity, General Medicine and Surgery.

51.

Such services provided by Independent hospitals and accessed by residents are also included as are the
cost of ambulance services.

52.

The CCG is also responsible for commissioning £48.7m of primary care services from NHS England
delegated budgets. This includes payments to local GP Practices for General Medical Services, Personal
Medical Services and Alternative Provider Medical Services contracts, Quality and Outcomes Framework
and enhanced services commissioned for Wigan Borough patients.

53.

In addition, the CCG has invested £5.6m in GP Primary Care Standards to improve standards and reduce
variability across GP primary care. The cost of prescribing in 2020/21 was £63.0m. This includes the cost
of drugs prescribed by primary care professionals.

54.

Community Health Services include the cost of the services provided in a community setting or in patients
own homes, such as District Nurses, Therapists and Community Clinics. The costs of the contract for
the Out of Hours service and Walk-In-Centre are also included here.

55.

Mental Health services include the costs of providing Mental Health and Learning Disability support within
the Borough. This includes Psychological Therapies (counselling services) and Inpatient Medical Care
for patients with Mental Health conditions.

56.

The CCG has met the national requirement to invest in Mental Health services to ensure the Mental
Health Investment Standard is achieved giving parity of investment to mental health services. These
investments are also subject to an independent audit.

57.

Another area of significant investment on behalf of residents is in Continuing Healthcare, which is a
package of medical care arranged and funded solely by the NHS for our most vulnerable patients. It can
be delivered in any setting and can include the full cost of a place in a nursing home if the needs of the
patient meet a rigorous set of criteria. The CCG has a considerable number of residents who meet these
criteria and have been assessed as eligible for fully funded NHS care, which the CCG pays for and
monitors. In 2020/21 this amounted to £29.8m. The CCG is also responsible for Funded Nursing Care
for patients who do not meet the Continuing Healthcare criteria but still require nursing care when in a
care home environment.

58.

The CCG has invested £25.7m in conjunction with Wigan Council to the nationally mandated Better Care
Fund in 2020/21. Other programme services also include the costs of paying for clinical premises, and
the NHS 111 service.

59.

COVID-19 funding has been spent in four main categories;
•
•
•
•

In response to the additional demand created by COVID-19.
In response to additional Infection Control requirements.
In line with nationally released guidance including Hospital Discharge Programme, Primary Care
capacity and vaccination programmes.
As agreed by the Greater Manchester system.
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Improving Quality
60.

The CCG recognises its statutory duty to improve the quality of care that we commission under Section
14R of the Health and Social Care Act (2012). As reflected in the CCGs Corporate Priorities for 2020/21
our ambition is to make sure that local people have access to the highest quality health and care services
they need; when they need them, Right Care, Right Place, Right Time…

61.

The Quality Assurance and Improvement Frameworks have been refreshed in year and are integral to
the CCG’s internal governance arrangements for ensuring the proactive oversight and monitoring of
provider quality in line with the following domains.

Safe

Effective

Experience

62.

People are protected from avoidable harm and abuse. When mistakes do occur lessons will
be learned and shared across the system to prevent recurrences wherever it is practicable
to do so.
People’s care and treatment achieves good outcomes, promotes a good quality of life and
is based on the best available evidence.
Caring: Service staff support people to make informed decisions about their care and
treatment and treat people with compassion, dignity and respect.
Responsive and person-centred: services respond to people’s needs and choices, enable
them to be equal partners in their care.

In addition, the CCG also recognises the following additional domains as being essential if we are to
ensure the improvements in quality are sustainable.
Well-Led

Commissioners and providers are open and collaborate internally and externally and are
committed to learning and improvement.

Sustainable

Commissioners and providers will continue to work collaboratively to ensure resources are
used responsibly and efficiently, providing equitable access to all, according to need, and
promote an open and fair culture.

Equitable and
Inclusive

Commissioners and providers will work together to ensure inequalities in health outcomes
are a focus for quality improvement, making sure care quality does not vary due to
characteristics such as gender, race, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion, belief,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity or marital or civil partnership status.

COVID-19 - Staying Connected
63.

The COVID-19 Pandemic has and continues to challenge us all to work in new ways and settings.
Maintaining communication and staying connected has been a fundamental requirement in ensuring
individuals are supported, teams remain responsive and effective, and by working together we are able
to deliver on the health and social care priorities for the borough. The CCG and Local Authority Quality
Teams recognise this and have continued to be proactive in remaining connected and innovative. By
adopting new ways of working the teams are maintaining quality oversight and assurance on
commissioned services and providing advice and support to our partners to promote the provision and
delivery of safe care and treatment, that importantly results in a positive outcome for the individual.

Clinical Governance
64.

In year, the CCG conducted a review of its internal governance arrangements. The review concluded in
the transition of the CCG’s existing Clinical Governance Committee to the newly formed Integrated
Quality Subcommittee in August (2020). The Quality Subcommittee is comprised of representations from
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across the Locality Health and Social Care System and reports directly to the Wigan Borough Integrated
Commissioning Committee (ICC). The Committees have continued to receive a range of assurance
reports including the Provider Quality and Safeguarding Group Chairpersons’ Reports, and the Quarterly
and Annual Quality Reports in year.

Assuring the Quality of Commissioned Services
65.

During 2020/21 the CCG has maintained effective quality oversight and monitoring of each of its main
NHS providers via Quality and Safeguarding Groups (QSGs) which have continued throughout the
pandemic. At the meetings the evidence provided relating to specific quality and patient safety outcomes
is received and discussed in detail with the provider, any gaps in assurances are identified and
appropriate actions, and timescales for remedial actions agreed.

Quality and Safety Metrics used by the CCG
66.

In order to measure and monitor the quality improvements associated with our quality priorities, the CCG
ensures that national and local quality standards and priorities are accurately reflected in contracts with
our providers and that these standards are monitored effectively. We do this by monitoring and reviewing
a wide range of core quality and safety metrics and by using a Quality Assurance and Improvement
Framework. This enables us to maintain effective oversight of the standards set out within the provider
contracts. Key measures are used as indicators of the delivery against contractual quality requirements
and improvements, associated with our key priorities includes, but are not restricted to: Incidents; Serious
Incidents (inclusive of Never Events); Mortality metrics; Complaints; National Benchmarks e.g. Patient
survey results; workforce metrics including safer staffing performance; CQC reports; and intelligence from
NHS England/NHS Improvement and any other key stakeholders.

Care Quality Commission (CQC)
67.

The borough’s main NHS providers: Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust (Acute and Community Services Provider) and Northwest Boroughs Healthcare NHS Foundation
Trust (Mental Health Services Provider), have continued to be rated by the CQC as ‘Good’ overall; and
‘Good’ across the Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive and Well Led Domains.

68.

The local Intermediate Care Providers, Richmond House and Alexandra Court are also rated ‘Good’
overall by the CQC.

Learning from Serious Incidents and Never Events
69.

The CCG has supported providers to learn from Serious Incidents (SIs) and Never Events (NEs) and
have ensured robust challenge through the CCG Serious Incident and Never Events Panel and by
ensuring attendance at the providers ‘themed’ SI Panels. Focused pieces of work have included:
‘Pressure Ulcer Prevention’ and ‘Embedding the Learning from Serious Incidents’.

Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI)
70.

The HCAI Process has continued but at a reduced pace due to the commitment required to respond to
the pandemic and other priority agendas by the IPC Team and Specialist Nurses across the Borough i.e.,
COVID-19 Vaccination and COVID-19 Outbreak.
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71.

A continued background focus has been maintained on all the mandatory reportable infections:
Clostridioides difficile (C.difficile) infections and the bloodstream infections (BSI) including meticillin
resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA); meticillin sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA), and Gramnegative blood stream infections; Escherichia coli (E.coli), Klebsiella species and Pseudomonas
aeruginosa. National and local reporting, notifications, information gathering, and rapid reviews have
continued, with local collaborative overview to identify learning within Acute and Primary Care settings.

COVID-19 Outbreak Support for Provider Services
72.

The CCG has and continues to provide support to local providers including: General Practice and Wigan
and Leigh Hospice in conjunction with Public Health England (PHE) and local Health Protection
colleagues.

COVID-19 Vaccination Programme Delivery
73.

74.

CCG Quality Leads have supported the development of processes, procedures, and resources to meet
all National IPC requirements within the vaccination sites. Areas of activity have included:
•

Provision and delivery of education and learning opportunities in line with National IPC and
Vaccination guidance.

•

Supporting services and staff with PPE requirements, testing and results.

•

Ensuring the provision of a safe, clean environment in collaboration with the cleaning contractors,
site colleagues, NHS, Local Authority and Volunteer staff to ensure all are aware of their
responsibilities. This has been enabled with an audit process, developed and maintained to identify
learning and required actions to provide a safe, clean environment for everyone accessing the sites.

The vaccination programme roll out has also been supported by CCG staff both redeployed and
volunteers.

Influenza Immunisation Programme 2020/21
75.

The CCG worked collaboratively to enable a safe environment for the delivery of the 2020/21 Influenza
Programme, support provided has included:
• Education: A bespoke Infection Prevention and Control learning opportunity: “Staying Safe”, was
offered to all CCG Staff supporting the Clinics and the GP Practice staff delivering the service.
• Audit: An audit programme was developed in line with the National Specification for cleanliness to
monitor and review the cleaning provision within all four sites, which continued throughout the
delivery of the programme.

76.

Patient Safety Specialists: As part of the of CCG’s implementation of the NHS Patient Safety Strategy
we have identified two Patient Safety Specialists, who will lead on patient safety across the organisation.
These specialists will work as patient safety experts providing senior leadership, visibility, and advice.
The Patient Safety Specialists will also work in networks with Patient Safety Specialists from other
organisations locally, regionally, and nationally to share good practice and learn from each other, making
them fundamental to patient safety.

77.

Mortality: The CCG continues to monitor mortality data such as the Summary Hospital Level Mortality
Indicator (SHMI) and the Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) and has ensured robust
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challenge through provider QSG meetings. In year, the CCG and the Acute and Community Trust have
jointly funded a Clinical Improvement Lead to support the development of a Wigan Borough Mortality
Improvement Plan, the plan builds on the work undertaken in previous years.
78.

Suicide Prevention: The CCG continues to work directly with the local Mental Health Services provider
to ensure that lessons are robustly learnt from all suicides and cases of self-harm. The QSG has received
and continues to monitor the Trust Suicide Prevention Strategy and continues to focus on promoting the
reduction of suicide. The CCG is a member of the Wigan Borough Suicide Prevention Group and we
remain a member of the Zero Suicide Alliance.

79.

Quality Improvement in Primary Care: The CCG has continued to support colleagues across the
Primary Care Networks (PCNs). Throughout the challenges of the pandemic, the CCG has remained
committed to ensuring connectivity. Examples of this include:
•

Provision of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE): In response to the pandemic, the CCG has
ensured adequate PPE supplies are available at all times for each General Practice and the Wigan
Borough GP Alliance. A comprehensive process has been developed to prioritise the provision of
PPE and a weekly ordering system through the CCG is established and maintained effectively.

•

General Practice Nurse (GPN) Forum: During initial lockdown a short regular webinar format was
developed and replaced the face to face forums. This has now developed further and a virtual forum
utilising Microsoft Teams is facilitated monthly. Recent topics have included: Analysis of blood test
results, Cancer Care and COVID-19 vaccinations.

•

Health Care Assistants (HCA) Forum: There has been a recognised need for the HCA workforce to
have its own educational forum as they are an integral component in the Practice Team. Significant
progress has been made during 2020/21 to bring this to fruition. Delivery of a quarterly virtual Forum
is now an essential support network for HCA’s and enhancing their skills and knowledge base will
improve the quality and safety of the care provided to the Practice population. Two successful
forums have now taken place and topics have included: NHS Health Checks, Wellbeing and
resilience support, Liver health and specialist alcohol services.

•

Practice Nurse Newsletter: The quarterly publication has been improved and refreshed with a
greater distribution across all nurses working within the general practice setting.

Promoting Quality and Safety within Nursing Homes
80.

In year, the CCG and Local Authority established a Care Home COVID-19 Safeguarding and Quality
Board and a COVID-19 Safeguarding and Quality Framework. The Framework contained a range of
measures that allowed us to maintain quality oversight of Care Homes during the pandemic and enabled
us to support providers and partners to deliver the best care and support to Wigan Care Home residents
and their families.

81.

National Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) Support Offer for Wigan Borough Care Homes: The CCG
led the development of the Care Home IPC Education Support Training Team and the delivery of the
Care Home IPC COVID-19 Educational Support Programme to Care Home colleagues. This was a
collaborative response supported by the CCG and Local Authority.
•
•
•

96% of the Care Homes in borough engaged with the support offer.
179 Virtual Educational Sessions were delivered to Care Home staff.
962 Care staff engaged with the education/ learning opportunities.
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82.

The CCG continues to work collaboratively with our Local Authority colleagues with regard to the
development, implementation and monitoring of provider Service Improvement Plans to support the
required quality improvements in response to concerns identified through CQC inspections complaints
and third party sources.

Service User Experience of Care
83.

The CCG continues to use the Safeguard Risk Management System (Ulysses); to allow General Practice
to report service user experience data which is reviewed on a weekly basis. Although stepped back due
to the pandemic, the reports have continued to be received and by the end of quarter three we had
received 791 reports. Themes from the reports are discussed at the provider QSG meetings and are
shared with system colleagues. This data triangulated with other quality data sources provide an early
warning system that supports the identification of services that are deteriorating. Issues addressed via
Service User Experience of Care in year includes discharge communication /processes and community
pharmacy issues.

84.

Additional information can be found within the quarterly Quality Reports and a full year view will be
included within the Quality Annual Report for 2020/21.

Engaging people and communities
Duties and Responsibilities
85.

We are committed to involving patients and residents in the work of the CCG.

86.

We have a legal duty under the National Health Service Act 2006 to ‘make arrangements’ to involve
people in the commissioning of services.

87.

Our Communications & Engagement Strategy describes how “we work to create change” through our
engagement and involvement activities. Our approach is to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

88.

Work with partners to do things once;
Go digital first;
Make the most of every contact;
Have continuous engagement and conversations with patients and residents;
Produce better information to support staff and patients;
Work closest with those from diverse, potentially excluded and disadvantaged groups.

We were delighted this year to maintain our “outstanding” rating from NHS England for our patient and
public involvement work.

COVID-19 Pandemic
89.

Our planned patient and public involvement activities have been impacted by the pandemic this year. We
moved our regular forums online and have had to utilise digital and online engagement methods in line
with the COVID-19 public health restrictions.
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Governance and Assurance
90.

Our Wigan Borough Engagement Group plays a role in helping to assure the CCG about how we involve
patients and residents in local services.

91.

We provide reports of our patient and public involvement activity into our Governing Body and our Quality
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee on a regular basis.

92.

Every year we work with our patient representatives to produce a dedicated Annual Patient and Public
Involvement Report. You can find the latest report on our website.

93.

We have patient representatives on the CCG’s Primary Care Committee and Cancer Implementation
Team.

Equality and Diversity
94.

When we undertake patient and public involvement work we tailor our approaches to reach people from
diverse and potentially excluded and disadvantaged communities.

95.

Our latest Annual Equality and Diversity Report outlines this in more detail.

96.

Our general approach to engagement is summarised in the following graphic:

97.

We’ve had to amend our engagement approach during the pandemic, particularly steps 7 and 8 as we
have been unable to do face to face engagement work for most the year.

98.

Our Equality Reference Group is made up of CCG staff, patients, residents and voluntary sector
colleagues who come together to work on equality and diversity matters. Everyone has a common interest
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in making sure that everyone has a voice in local services. The group has provided us with an excellent
platform from which to improve our equality analysis work.
99.

You can read a list of the achievements of our Equality Reference Group on our “reports and feedback”
page.

100. In addition, we are working with other agencies across Greater Manchester to promote inclusion and
enhance awareness of the specific needs of ethnic groupings.

How we involve patients and residents
101. Some examples of how we involve people through the commissioning cycle:

102. Our Shape Your NHS community is our engagement membership. Members get regular newsletters and
are invited to take part in our work.
103. Our Wigan Borough Engagement Group is made up of patient representatives and volunteers from the
different health and care organisations in the Borough. Read what we’ve achieved together in 2020/21
on our “reports and feedback” page.
104. Our Maternity Voices Partnerships (MVP) is a group of parents, parents-to-be, health professionals and
commissioners who work together to improve maternity services in the borough. This year we recruited
an independent lay chairperson for the group. Our annual achievements poster can be found on our
dedicated MVP page.

Patient feedback
105. We use feedback from patients and residents to improve local services, sometimes small changes can
make a big impact.
106. We report any feedback through to the CCGs Quality Team to raise with provider organisations through
regular quality meetings where necessary.
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Work with partners
107. The communications and engagement teams of the various organisations in our local health and care
economy meet regularly to identify areas to work together, for example on campaigns or engagement
projects.
108. Our collaborative approach has been vital throughout the pandemic to ensure that local people have had
the most up to date advice and information and been supported effectively.
109. Here are some examples of how we have worked together this year:
•

Public health campaigns around the pandemic and our “here for you” campaign to encourage
residents to come forward for non-COVID-19 related illnesses;

•

Campaigns to encourage residents to get the flu vaccination and the COVID-19 vaccination
particularly those more vulnerable and potentially disadvantaged groups;

•

Recognising the impact of the pandemic on mental health we have worked together to promote
mental health services and to encourage people to seek support when needed;

•

We worked together on the local implementation of NHS 111 first and the new triage model in our
local Accident & Emergency Department. Our ongoing work to assist residents to access the right
service at the right time.

Impact of Participation
110. After all our engagement projects we publish a report and “you said, we listened” on the dedicated “reports
and feedback” section of our website.
111. Here are some examples of how our patient and public involvement work has had a positive impact this
year:
•

Engagement work has helped us to understand barriers to people accessing the flu vaccine and
we were able to design a local campaign using real people that helped us surpass our targets
months earlier than usual;

•

Helping us to encourage residents to take up the COVID-19 vaccination when they are eligible and
ensuring the vaccine is accessible for diverse, potentially excluded and disadvantaged groups;

•

Throughout the pandemic patients and residents have given us feedback on the experiences of
people accessing health and care services and areas where we needed to do more
communications and engagement work with different communities;

•

We coproduced information to help residents understand how primary care services have been
accessed differently during the pandemic and feedback on how digital services such as Ask My GP
have been working in practice;

•

Through our Maternity Voices Partnership we have continued our work to improve maternity
services including the introduction of The Meadow Continuity of Care team to provide care to mum
throughout pregnancy, birth and the post natal period. Continuity of care was one of the priorities
local parents asked us to focus on;
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•

A continuation of improved services at the High Street Medical Centre in Golborne with a permanent
GP now in place to run the practice;

•

An increase in our reach and engagement membership enabling us to engage with over 3000
people;

•

Development of primary care estates including a new build in Higher Folds that is due to open in
Spring 2021 and the design of a new health and wellbeing hub in Aspull that is due to start in
Summer 2021;

•

Feedback and information from patients registered with Dr Esa and the Avenue Surgery which
helped our Primary Care Committee make the decision for the practices to merge into one bigger
practice;

•

Helped us to understand the common issues people face when travelling for health services which
has fed into different projects throughout the year such as our work around improving urgent and
emergency care and diagnostic services;

•

Feedback from homeless residents led to us making changes within our Local Commissioned GP
service to make it more accessible with plans for more engagement work next year.

•

Our live digital Annual General Meeting reached more people than ever before this year with over
100 people watching live or on catch-up.

112. In terms of the future, our commitment to patients remains undiminished and we will work diligently to
ensure that their voices and needs are adequately reflected within any emergent structures.

Reducing health inequalities
113. We referred to our annual Equality and Diversity Report above in the Engaging People and Communities
section. The CCG has met and will continue to meet our statutory duties under the Equality Act 2010.
114. All of us in the CCG are committed to providing through our integration arrangements first class health
and care for our diverse population, recognising that services need to be designed with the person at the
centre of them, ensuring equality, diversity, inclusion and human rights are our business and shape and
influence our decision-making. We are committed to fulfilling our equality duties and obligations to reduce
avoidable health inequalities in all aspects of our role and functions.
115. Our Equality Reference Group has continued to function during the pandemic. We recruited a small
group of people initially who share a common interest in progressing equality and diversity and ensuring
everyone has a voice in local services.
116. We meet every two months in venues across Wigan and Leigh, however our meetings have been held
online during the pandemic. We facilitate reasonable adjustments to enable people to take part, e.g.
providing British Sign Language interpreters and producing information in Easy Read.
117. The Group has worked with us to produce our Equality Impact Assessment on MRI, Non-obstetric
Ultrasound and Hearing Loss services and how we can look to ensure that the services work well for all
protected characteristics when it is re-procured next year.
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Addressing the wider determinants of health
118. General practice recognised that the health and wellbeing of our patients was affected by a range of
issues including debt, housing, employment, relationships and developed the Community Link Worker
service with partners in 2015 - way ahead of national programmes to embed ‘Social Prescribing Link
Workers’.

Neighbourhood Partnerships
119. Many of our PCNs have developed strong relationships with partners in their SDFs in order to tackle deep
rooted health issues within communities. Practices have been engaged in SDF Huddles, and now the
Complex Case meetings to support individuals through multi-disciplinary working.

Work with schools and early years settings
120. Some of our PCNs have forged links with local schools to address school readiness and emotional
wellbeing. We have worked with school nursing teams to deliver asthma checks in new ways and with
schools and nurseries to increase the uptake of childhood nasal flu vaccinations.

Asset based approaches and community connections
121. Our PCNs have forged close links with their communities and voluntary sector partners in a number of
ways. Some of our PCNs have held community wellness days to promote wellbeing and encourage
people to become more active. Throughout the pandemic, practices, often through their Community Link
Workers, have been connected to the Community Hubs to support shielding and vulnerable patients. A
number of our practices have worked with PCN Clinical Directors and Council Teams to address the
specific needs of our rough sleepers and homeless populations through integrated working in the Mercure
Hotel facility.
122. Further work was carried out with the homeless and rough sleepers when our engagement team were
able to go into the Mercure Hotel to undertake a number of face-to-face interviews with residents and
staff. We followed all the necessary COVID-19 measures and guidelines to keep everyone safe. The
feedback is being used to help develop the GP service available for the homeless and rough sleeper
populations in the Borough and the wider support offer.
123. Work to address inequalities around vaccination and particularly COVID vaccination are on-going. We
are working closely with the Council and WWL teams to work with those communities and groups where
action to increase uptake is required. This includes work to support those with learning disabilities access
vaccination by providing vaccination in locations known to the person, working with homeless shelters to
offer vaccination at the Mercure and shelters within Leigh, funding a sign language service for those with
profound hearing loss to both book and attend for vaccination.
124. Work is currently underway to engage those who experience social exclusion such as asylum seekers,
sex workers, and the traveller community to ensure vaccination is accessible to these groups and promote
vaccine uptake.
125. A great deal of work took place during 2020/21 to help to increase the number of annual health checks
for people with a learning disability (LD). As the pandemic was unfolding it became apparent that health
inequalities was increasing for this particular segment of the population with general practice being forced
to operate differently and individuals not wanting to visit their GP practices as they previously had. The
refocus of the health check become a national priority, one which we took seriously within Wigan driving
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the agenda through the Learning Disability & Autism Health Group which has representatives from across
the system.
126. A briefing paper was produced with support from one of our GP clinical champions which informed
practices of support material and key contacts from the Community Learning Disability team, the briefing
outlined the contract expectation, LD health check figures for each practice (updated fortnightly and
shared with all clinical director from the PCN) tips on clinical system coding and support material such as
easy read letters. Two PCNs undertook a quality improvement programme “Productive General
Practices” with Learning Disability Health check process as their topic and have since streamlined their
processes for the annual health check. As a result of all the hard work during the year the borough
average for the completion of the learning disability annual health check was 85%, the highest it has been
with all practices achieving 70% and above.

Health and Wellbeing Strategy
127. The ambition of the Wigan Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) is to transform the health, social care
and wellbeing system, and its outcomes, through the CCG and Wigan Council working together with
partners in a mutually respectful way. HWBB has 16 voting members, six from the CCG including the
Joint Chair, eight from the Council, one GP representative and one from Healthwatch Wigan. Thus the
CCG demonstrates its active contribution to the delivery of the health and wellbeing strategy.
128. Since its establishment the Board has set out to make a real difference to improving the health and
wellbeing of the people of the Wigan borough. This has meant taking action to deliver practical
improvements and change that residents can perceive and appreciate, and that narrows the health
inequalities gap within the borough, and in comparison with other parts of the country.
129. The HWBB provides a focal point and oversight for the work of a number of the health and care
partnership arrangements, such as the Healthier Wigan Partnership, Secondary Care Board, Population
Health board and others, as well as the wider work of providers and commissioners.
130. It has set the strategic framework for health and care transformation in the borough this year through the
refreshed Borough Locality Plan 2020-2025, ‘Happy Healthy People’ which was reviewed by the HWBB
at the end of 2019 and later approved by the Integrated Commissioning Committee.
131. The CCG’s Accountable Officer presented regular reports which provided HWBB Members with an
update on the system wide response and recovery to the COVID-19 pandemic. The reports outlined how
the recovery planning priorities would be aligned to the Healthier Wigan Partnership priorities and how
the health and social care response to the pandemic in respect of the local acute, community and primary
care and independent sector services would be achieved in implementing a range of actions to free up
capacity to manage pressure in both general practice and across the wider health and care system.
132. The Council’s Director of Adult Social Care and Health informed HWBB Members that there were eight
principles that would guide how the Council would apply its approach and five priority areas that the
Council would focus its efforts on in the immediate transition phase after lockdown and into a
transformation phase for a refreshed Deal 2030.
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Issues and Risks
133. The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) is a means of identifying and quantifying strategic
risks within the organisation and is the means by which the Governing Body monitors and controls the
risks which may impact on the organisation’s capacity to achieve its objectives.
134. The GBAF identifies the corporate priorities of the organisation and the principal risks related to the
delivery of these objectives. Key controls are made explicit together with the assurances on these
controls. In addition, the GBAF identifies linkages with inter-related areas of assurance.
135. The GBAF together with the monthly Performance Report are the two primary tools used by the
Governing Body to measure and monitor the CCG’s performance.
136. The GBAF was presented to the Governing Body on a quarterly basis and is usually submitted following
presentation at Governance and Audit Committee which fulfils its role by focusing on risks, controls, gaps
in control and resultant action plans. The Audit Committee also receives the GBAF at its meetings and
focuses on the positive assurances and gaps in assurance.
137. Of the 13 risks included in the GBAF at the end of Quarter 4, five risks were rated extreme. These were
described as:
•

The continuing COVID-19 pandemic may lead to a level of uncertainty around the response and
how it is organised nationally and locally and what the impact may be on the CCG operationally
and financially.

•

If the response to the COVID-19 pandemic is not managed effectively in General Practice settings,
services to patients will not be delivered appropriately.

•

If the appropriate infection control standards and wider intensive care procedures are not applied
to the in-hospital setting in response to the COVID-19 level 4 incident, patients and staff will be at
increased risk of harm or death.

•

If the appropriate infection control standards are not applied to care homes in response to the
COVID-19 level 4 incident, residents and staff will be at increased risk of harm or death.

•

If the local health and social care system, particularly acute services, does not re-prioritise and
transform in the face of the pandemic threat, the NHS and care system in the borough may be
overwhelmed.

138. These risks have been managed throughout the year following the introduction of the command and
control structure by NHS England in March 2020. The costs and funding regime in-year as described
earlier in the report was also the focus of senior management attention.
139. The following controls and actions were agreed to mitigate the above risks:
•

•
•

The CCG is collaborating with all partners to ensure implementation of command and control
guidance. Greater Manchester assurance is managed through Gold Command and community
cells;
All GM Trusts have undertaken modelling which is refreshed weekly to show demand and capacity
for critical care, general and acute beds and discharges;
There is a consistent approach to the elective programme and clinical priorities;
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•
•

Each locality has system escalation in place to be proactive to any changes;
GP Practices are following the NHS England standard operating procedure for all working practices
to ensure safe delivery of services for staff and patients.

CCGs’ Annual Assessment
140. The GBAF provides the CCG with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the
CCG achieving its corporate priorities have been reviewed. The CCG has improved its standing as judged
by NHS England for 2019/20 from “Requires Improvement” to “Good” with outstanding features. The
overall result was published by NHS England in November 2020.
141. The assessment looks at elements of performance such as: the capability and capacity of the leadership,
the delivery of quality services, the governance of the CCG and how it leads the transformation of local
services. Areas of significant improvement this year include moving from requires improvement to
outstanding in having a clear vision and credible strategy, having leaders with the right capability and
experience to effectively manage, and moving from requires improvement to good in the financial
management areas. Other areas we were already seen as outstanding in, include patient engagement
and involvement and ensuring the quality of local NHS services.
142. EU Exit – The CCG’s performance was not affected before or following the end of the transition period
after leaving the European Union and provided daily reports to NHS England and NHS Improvement
when required to that effect.

Partnership Working
Strategic Commissioning and Healthier Wigan Partnership
143. The Integrated Commissioning Committee (ICC) of the CCG’s Governing Body was established from the
1st April 2019 and is formed of Wigan Council Elected Representatives; Council Officers; CCG Governing
Body, GP and Officer Members.
144. The Strategic Commissioning Function led by the ICC creates the conditions for the high quality
partnership in the borough between the providers of health and care services for the delivery of agreed
population outcomes.
145. The Healthier Wigan Partnership (HWP) which is an alliance of health and social care providers working
together to develop an integrated approach to health and social care for Wigan was formally established
a year before the ICC and is maturing and continuing to deliver on transforming services that support
people to stay safe and well, in their home and in their communities.
146. The Committee and the Partnership have been vital to our local response to the pandemic as they have
enabled us to take joint decisions, share risk and provide better, more responsive and cohesive COVID
services to local residents.
147. They will continue to be important through the recovery phase and as a result of the commissioning
changes planned nationally for 2021/22.
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Greater Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership
148. Wigan Borough CCG is a partner in the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership.
149. In April 2020, we entered the fifth year since Greater Manchester took charge of its health and care
spending and decisions. As the year began, we faced an unprecedented challenge from Covid-19.
Tragically, many people in Greater Manchester have lost their lives and many more have suffered from
the health, social and economic impacts of the pandemic. Unfortunately, we know that those who are
more vulnerable - such as older people, those with disabilities, ethnic minority communities and people
living in more deprived areas – have seen the greatest impact. While inequalities within Greater
Manchester have been exacerbated, so have those between our city region and the rest of the UK.
150. In these most testing of circumstances, we have seen an extraordinary effort from everyone working in
health and social care in Greater Manchester in our collective response to Covid-19. Every part of the
system has contributed, and our 10 localities have been at the forefront of this joint effort.
151. We have seen partner organisations at both local and Greater Manchester level work collaboratively to
find solutions to the difficulties we have faced as a result of the pandemic. This has often been in the form
of innovative, digital solutions to make it easier for patients to access services – for example in primary
care and mental health. Local systems have rallied round to support care homes. The Voluntary,
Community, Faith and Social Enterprise (VCFSE) Sector has played a vital role in connecting with
communities and providing much needed support at a local level. Our hospitals have supported each
other through mutual aid and, working with all localities, focused on safely discharging patients to create
capacity for the increase in hospital admissions due to COVID-19.
152. As we enter 2021-22, we recognise that it will take considerable time for us to recover from the effects of
the pandemic but there is a sense of optimism rooted in the strong joined up working we have seen in
the last year. There is no better example of this than the COVID-19 vaccination programme. In March
2021, we reached the incredible milestone of over one million people in Greater Manchester receiving
their first vaccine dose.
153. This year we also anticipate some changes in Greater Manchester if the government’s white paper,
‘Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all’, is passed into law.
The characteristics and purpose envisaged for statutory integrated care systems (ICSs) correlate with
the ambitions for health and social care that we have pursued over the past five years in Greater
Manchester, in particular:
•
•
•
•

The emphasis on improving population health outcomes and reducing inequalities
Place-based partnerships
More streamlined and strategic commissioning
Provider collaboration

154. Our focus for the year ahead will be continuing to work with all partners to maximise the opportunity of
the white paper to build on the progress we have already made in Greater Manchester.
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Financial, Planning and Operational Aims and Risks (2021/22)
155. The CCG has met all of its statutory financial duties in 2020/21 and its financial control total as set by
NHS England/Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership. However, in keeping with the
wider NHS it is still faced with significant financial challenges over the coming years.
156. A national consultation is currently underway on the introduction of ICSs, and it is anticipated that new
legislation will be introduced that will lead to their introduction. The existing functions of the CCG would
transfer into the ICS and CCGs would be abolished.
157. There will be a decision making place based partnership in the borough and this is currently being worked
through with stakeholders across Greater Manchester.
158. The refreshed priorities of Healthier Wigan Partnership will lead our planning on this:
•
•
•

COVID secure and system/community resilience
Restoration, recovery and resilience including social and economic factors
Improving population health and wellbeing

159. National planning guidance issued by NHS England/Improvement includes a timetable of dates that,
subject to legislation, CCGs and ICSs should be working towards. This includes developing and
establishing the governance around the ICS, with a view to formal establishment from April 2022. In
2021/22, systems are once again responsible for the allocation of NHS resource, and for the achievement
of a breakeven financial position of the system.
160. The impact of the pandemic has brought about significant pressure and uncertainty to the NHS. Whilst
there are positive signs that the national vaccine rollout is beginning to reduce the impact of the virus, the
longer term impacts to the NHS remain uncertain. As a result, the government has only recently agreed
and released NHS funding for the first 6 months of 2021/22.
161. At the time of writing, the CCG is in the process of producing a financial plan covering the period April
through to September 2021. A draft plan submitted to Greater Manchester on 16th April 2021 highlighted
a potential funding gap of £13.3m, however this is before any of the £407m system monies have been
allocated. Further work is required at system level to allocate out system level funding to CCGs and NHS
providers, and once this is complete the CCG will understand any savings requirement it may have.
162. Should any gap remain, then a comprehensive locality wide savings plan will be developed to mitigate
any financial gap. This approach, supported by system-wide locality stakeholders is designed to ensure
both the quality of services going forward and financial sustainability over the longer term. This approach
will not only help mitigate any 2021/22 financial gap but will also help reduce future costs across the
locality in order to free up resource for future investment in the transformation of local services.
163. There remain a number of financial risks in 2021/22 some of which are:
•
•
•
•

Patient demand for NHS services grows at a rate in excess of national funding growth;
The CCG does not receive adequate funding from the system envelope;
The CCG is required to invest in Greater Manchester agreed schemes without adequate funding
provision; and
The achievement of any required cost savings are hampered by the impact of covid, the current
financial regime rules, or the potential distraction caused by the introduction of ICSs.
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Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
59.

Wigan Borough CCG has 58 member practices that work together in Service Delivery Footprints
(SDFs) of 30,000 – 50,000 patients. The main sites of the practices are listed below:

Hindley Service Delivery Footprint
Alexander House Surgery, Platt Bridge Health Centre, Rivington Avenue, Platt Bridge,
Wigan
Dr Tun & Partners, Hindley Health Centre, 17 Liverpool Road, Hindley, Wigan
Dr Ullah’s Practice, Platt Bridge Health Centre, Rivington Avenue, Platt Bridge, Wigan
Higher Ince Surgery (SSP Ltd), Manchester Road, Ince-in-Makerfield, Wigan
Claire House Practice (Pitalia SSP), Platt Bridge Health Centre, Rivington Avenue, Platt
Bridge, Wigan
Lower Ince Surgery (SSP Ltd), Claire House, Lower Ince Health Centre, Phoenix Way,
Lower Ince, Wigan
Pennygate Medical Centre, 109 Ladies Lane, Hindley, Wigan

Leigh Service Delivery Footprint
Brookmill Medical Centre, College Street, Leigh
The Avenue Surgery, Leigh Health Centre, The Avenue, Leigh
Pennington Park Surgery, Bridgewater Medical Centre, Henry Street, Leigh
Old Henry Street Medical Practice, Henry Street, Leigh
Foxleigh Surgery, Bridgewater Medical Centre, Henry Street, Leigh
Grasmere Surgery, Leigh Health Centre, The Avenue, Leigh
Leigh Sports Village Practice (Pitalia SSP), Leigh Sports Village, Leigh
Leigh Family Practice (Pitalia SSP), Bridgewater Medical Centre, Henry Street, Leigh
Lilford Park Surgery, Leigh Health Centre, The Avenue, Leigh
Premier Health, Bridgewater Medical Centre, Henry Street, Leigh
Westleigh Medical Centre, 4-12 Westleigh Lane, Westleigh, Leigh
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LIGA Service Delivery Footprint
Ashton Medical Centre (Pitalia – SSP), 120 Wigan Road, Ashton-in-Makerfield, Wigan
Braithwaite Road Surgery (Kadiyala SSP), 36 Braithwaite Road, Lowton, Warrington
Bryn Street Surgery (Pitalia SSP), Ashton Clinic, Queens Road, Ashton-in-Makerfield, Wigan
High Street Medical Practice, Kidglove House, Golborne Health Centre, Kidglove Road,
Golborne
Dr Pal, Kidglove House, Golborne Health Centre, Kidglove Road, Golborne
Dr Shahbazi Family Medical Practice, Kidglove House, Golborne Health Centre, Kidglove
Road, Golborne
Dr Xavier, 647 Liverpool Road, Platt Bridge, Wigan
Slag Lane Medical Centre, 216 Slag Lane, Lowton, Warrington

North Wigan Service Delivery Footprint
Aspull Surgery, Haigh Road, Aspull, Wigan
Beech Hill Medical Practice, 278a Gidlow Lane, Beech Hill, Wigan
Shevington Surgery, Houghton Lane, Shevington, Wigan
Standish Medical Practice, 49 High Street, Standish, Wigan

SWAN Service Delivery Footprint
Bryn Cross Surgery, 246 Wigan Road, Ashton-in-Makerfield, Wigan
Chandler Surgery, Chandler House, Worsley Mesnes Health Centre, Poolstock Lane, Wigan
The Grange Practice, Chandler House, Worsley Mesnes Health Centre, Poolstock Lane,
Wigan
Hawkley Brook Medical Practice, Chandler House, Worsley Mesnes Health Centre,
Poolstock Lane, Wigan
Marus Bridge Practice, Chandler House, Worsley Mesnes Health Centre, Poolstock Lane,
Wigan
Medicentre, 185 Wigan Road, Ashton-in-Makerfield, Wigan
Shakespeare Surgery, Chandler House, Worsley Mesnes Health Centre, Poolstock Lane,
Wigan
Winstanley Medical Centre, Holmes House Avenue, Winstanley, Wigan
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TABA+ Service Delivery Footprint
Astley General Practice (Pitalia SSP), 391a Manchester Road, Astley
Bee Fold Lane Surgery, Bee Fold Lane, Atherton
Boothstown Medical Centre, 239 Mosley Common Road, Boothstown
Coldalhurst Lane Surgery, The Surgery, 1 Coldalhurst Lane, Astley
Meadow View Surgery, Atherton Health Centre, Nelson Street, Atherton
Dr K.K. Chan, & Partners, Seven Brooks Medical Centre, 21 Church Street, Atherton
Dr Vasanth & Partner, Bag Lane Surgery, Atherton Health Centre, Nelson Street, Atherton
Elliott Street Surgery, 145 Elliott Street, Tyldesley
The Surgery, Astley, 10 Higher Green Lane, Astley
The Surgery, Tyldesley, High Street, Tyldesley

Wigan Central Service Delivery Footprint
Bradshaw Medical Practice, Bradshaw Street, Wigan
Marsh Green Medical Practice (Pitalia SSP), Harrow Road, Marsh Green, Wigan
Longshoot Medical Practice, Scholes, Wigan
Mesnes View Surgery, Mesnes Street, Wigan
Newtown Medical Practice, Sherwood Drive, Wigan
Pemberton Surgery, Sherwood Drive, Wigan
Sullivan Way Surgery, Sullivan Way, Scholes, Wigan
Dicconson Group Practice, Boston House, Wigan Health Centre, Frog Lane, Wigan
Wrightington Street Surgery, Wrightington Street, Wigan
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Composition of Governing Body
60.

The CCG’s Governing Body membership this year is detailed below.

Governing Body Members:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dr Tim Dalton, (Chair)
Professor Craig Harris, Managing Director/Accountable Officer
Mr Paul McKevitt, Chief Finance Officer
Dr Gen Wong, Clinical Executive
Dr Jayne Davies, Clinical Executive
Dr Adam Jolles, Clinical Executive (from 01/09/20)
Mr Frank Costello, Lay Member (Deputy Chair)
Other Responsibility: Lay Member with responsibility for Patient and Public Engagement
Mr Peter Armer, Lay Member with responsibility for Audit and Remuneration
Professor Marios Adamou, Secondary Care Consultant Governing Body Member (from
01/09/20)
Mrs Sally Forshaw, Executive Nurse Governing Body Member

Term of office ended during the financial year:
• Dr Sanjay Wahie, Clinical Executive for Hindley SDF (until 01/09/2020)
Other Responsibility: Clinical Lead for Medicines Management
• Dr Mohan Kumar, Clinical Executive for SWAN SDF (until 01/09/2020)
Other Responsibility: Chair of Finance and Performance Committee
• Dr Syed Shah, Clinical Executive for TABA+ SDF (until 01/09/2020)
• Dr Neeta James, Clinical Executive for LIGA SDF (until 01/09/2020)
• Canon Maurice Smith, Lay Member with responsibility for Governance and Conflicts of
Interest (until 30/09/2020)
61.

Details of all committees of the Governing Body including key responsibilities, membership, attendance
and highlights of their work can be seen in the governance statement section of this report.

Register of Interests
62.

For up-to-date information on the Governing Body Members’ and GP Practice declarations of interest,
please see our website:
https://healthierwigan.nhs.uk/about-us/governance/ccg/declarations-of-interest/

Personal Data Related Incidents
63.

There were no serious incidents relating to data security breaches at the CCG and therefore none
was reported to the Information Commissioner in the year ending 31 March 2021.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
64.

Each individual who is a member of the CCG Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
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•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor
is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report

•

the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
65.

Wigan Borough CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and
human trafficking. Our Slavery and Trafficking Statement for the financial year ending 31st March 2021
appears on our website at https://healthierwigan.nhs.uk/about-us/commissioning/safeguarding/

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
66.

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board
(NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Managing Director to be the Accountable Officer of
Wigan Borough CCG.

67.

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:

68.

•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),

•

For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance
with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on
the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income
and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
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69.

70.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting
Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts;
and,

•

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and

•

Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required
for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that Wigan Borough CCG’s auditors are aware of that
information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are
unaware.

Governance Statement
Introduction and context
71.

NHS Wigan Borough CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

72.

The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the
health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain
health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its
local population.

73.

As at 1 April 2020, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under Section
14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
74.

As the Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a robust system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the CCG’s corporate responsibilities, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as
set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
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75.

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered properly and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. In
addition I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the
CCG as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
76.

The NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the 2012 Act) provides the CCG with powers to delegate its
functions and decisions to the governing body which in turn can delegate to certain groups (such as
committees) and certain persons. These decisions and also those delegated are contained in the CCG’s
scheme of reservation and delegation which is to be found in its governance handbook.

77.

Practices (members) are organised to work together in neighbourhood models namely Service Delivery
Footprint (SDF) groups to deliver some of the CCG’s responsibilities. The SDF structure is an essential
vehicle for the delivery of the CCG’s business and the SDFs are seen as a conduit between the
practices, the governing body of the CCG and the wider partners. They are an essential engagement
forum for both GPs, Practice staff and most importantly patients, residents and the people of Wigan.

78.

In April 2013 the membership of the CCG established a Governing Body in order to undertake the
business of the CCG and to discharge its statutory functions. Membership of the Governing Body is in
line with statute and in addition is representative of the membership through the elected SDF clinical
executives.

79.

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the CCG has made appropriate arrangements
for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and complies with
such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. The CCG continued with
a review of its governance arrangements in 2020 which resulted in a change in membership of the
Governing Body.

80.

Due to the national level 4 incident relating to the pandemic NHS England and NHS Improvement issued
an instruction in March 2020 allowing providers and commissioners to free up as much capacity as
possible and prioritise their workload to be focused on doing what was necessary to manage the
response to the pandemic. Trusts and CCGs were to continue to hold board meetings but streamline
papers, focus agendas and hold the meetings virtually not face-to-face.

81.

The Governing Body started the year in April with 15 voting members including the Chair but from
October this had reduced to 11 to take account of SDF clinical executive membership changing from
seven to three. The Governing Body is clinically led and has a majority of clinicians as members. The
SDF clinical executive members are practising GPs within the CCG area and GP members are on the
performers list of Wigan Borough or the subsequent arrangements. The Governing Body membership
now comprises:
a) the Chair;
b) three SDF clinical executives elected by, and representing all seven SDF groups of member
practices;
c) three lay members:
▪ one leading on financial management, audit, governance and conflicts of interest;
▪ one leading on equality, diversity & inclusion and quality, innovation, productivity and
prevention (QIPP);
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▪ one leading on patient and public involvement;
d) one registered nurse;
e) one secondary care specialist doctor;
f) the Accountable Officer;
g) the Chief Finance Officer.
82.

The Governing Body has met eight times between April 2020 and March 2021, four of those occasions
in public albeit via remote video link. A minimum of two thirds (67%) of members and at least two of the
three SDF clinical executives must attend for meetings to be quorate. The quorum has been achieved
at each meeting to enable decisions to be made.

83.

It is crucial that an interest and involvement in the local healthcare system does not also involve a
vested interest in terms of financial or professional bias toward or against particular solutions or
decisions. For this reason the CCG demands that members, governing body members, officers and
those wishing to provide services to the CCG declare any conflict or potential conflict in relation to a
decision to be made by the Group, and record them in published registers.

84.

The Governing Body receives and reviews at its meetings:
•
•
•
•

85.

New business items such as quality strategies and assurance reports;
Current business items such as the Performance and Finance Reports which evidence how the
CCG is performing against local priorities, and the NHS Constitution Standards;
Governing Body Committee Chairperson reports;
SDF Executive Meeting Chairperson reports.

The recommendations of the governance review which had concluded at the end of 2019/20 were
implemented through the first half of 2020/21 with a revised CCG constitution, governance handbook
and committee structure. These reviews also covered the changing governance arrangements for
health and care commissioning within the borough proposing that the Governing Body and Integrated
Commissioning Committee were further aligned but also covered SDF governance. At the start of the
year there were seven committees reporting to Governing Body but this reduced to four following the
governance review.
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Governing Body (8 meetings)
The CCG
demonstrates
its transparent
accountability to its members, local people,
stakeholders and NHS England in a number of
ways. We meet our statutory requirements to
publish our constitution and other key documents
including:

Members

Chair

Dr Tim Dalton

8

Dr Jayne Davies
Dr Neeta James
(until 01/09/20)
Dr Mohan Kumar
(until 01/09/20)
Dr Syed Shah
(until 01/09/20)
Dr Sanjay Wahie
(until 01/09/20)
Dr Gen Wong
Dr Adam Jolles
(from 01/09/20)
Peter Armer
Frank Costello
Maurice Smith
(until 30/09/20)
Prof. Craig Harris
Paul McKevitt/
Deputy
Sally Forshaw

8

SDF
• register of interests, gifts and hospitality,
Clinical
• procurement register; governing body meeting Executive
papers and minutes; public sector equality duty Members
annual report; annual engagement report and
annual report and accounts.
We also demonstrate our accountability by:
•
•

•
•

•
•

86.

holding our governing body meetings in
public;
meeting annually in public to present our
annual report which is also posted on our
website;
publishing a clear complaints process;
complying with the Freedom of Information
Act 2000 and with the Information
Commissioner’s
Office
requirements
regarding the publication of information
relating to the CCG;
providing information to NHS England as
required; and
being an active member of the Wigan
Borough Health and Wellbeing Board.

Meetings
Attended

Roles

Lay
Members

CCG
Officer
Members
Secondary
Care
Clinician

Prof. Marios
Adamou (from
01/09/20)

3
3
3
3
7
4
7
8
4
8
7
7
4

The committees reporting into the Governing Body and their terms of reference and achievements
this year are summarised as below.
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Integrated Commissioning Committee
(ICC) (9 meetings)

Roles

The ICC has made decisions within the constraints
of the budget set by the Council and the CCG and Joint Chairs
operated as the formal decision making authority
of the section 75 pooled budget. Its membership
included equal numbers of CCG GP Governing
Body Members and Council Elected Members.
During the year it has approved business cases or
GB GP
contract awards for the following services:
Members
• Mental Health Services
• Urgent and Emergency Care by
Appointment
• Future direction of Healthier Wigan
Partnership
The committee received regular reports from the
Health Protection Board’s joint Chairs on the
borough’s response to the national level 4 COVID- Council
19 incident.
Elected
Members
Members reviewed and provided oversight on the
response to Greater Manchester Health & Social
Care Partnership’s review and subsequently to
NHS
England
and
NHS
Improvement’s
engagement paper on the future of integrated care.
CCG Officer
Financial and operational performance of health Members
and adult social care services in the borough were
scrutinised through regular monitoring reports.

CCG/
Quarterly updates were received on the borough’s Council
Officer
statutory duties around safeguarding adults and
children and the requirement to improve the quality
CCG Lay
of healthcare provision.
Members

Council
Officer
Members

Members

Meetings
Attended

Dr Tim Dalton
Cllr David
Molyneux
Dr Jayne
Davies
Dr Neeta
James (until
01/09/20)
Dr Sanjay
Wahie (until
01/09/20)

9

Dr Gen Wong

8

Dr Adam Jolles
(from 01/09/20)
Cllr Keith
Cunliffe
Cllr Jenny
Bullen
Cllr Nazia
Rehman
Cllr Paul
Prescott
Prof. Craig
Harris
Julie Crossley
Sally Forshaw
Linda Scott
Paul McKevitt
Peter Armer
(from 01/09/20)
Frank Costello
(from 01/09/20)
Alison
McKenzieFolan
Stuart Cowley
Kate Ardern
Colette Dutton
(from 01/09/20)
Brendan
Whitworth/
Deputy

8
9
3

2

5
9
7
8
3
9
9
8
9
7
5
5
1
8
7
4
8
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Clinical Governance/Quality sub
Committee (6 meetings)
Following the governance review conducted in
year the Clinical Governance Committee of the
Governing Body evolved at the end of September
2020 to become the Quality Sub-committee
reporting to the ICC.
It is the role of the committee to demonstrate that
there is an effective and consistent process in
respect of commissioning for quality across the
CCG, also ensuring that any areas of concern
and under-performance are identified and high
standards of care and treatment are delivered.
The committee provides assurance to the
Governing Body and latterly ICC with regard to
healthcare quality activities in the appropriate
areas of accountability and in line with its terms of
reference. It receives reports from the Integrated
Quality and Safeguarding Group meetings held to
monitor the quality of healthcare at the two large
local NHS providers, Wrightington, Wigan & Leigh
NHS Foundation Trust and North West Boroughs
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (Mental
Health).
The committee also provides oversight on quality
standards in respect of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Intermediate Care and Community Bed
Providers
Primary Care – General Practice
Care Homes in the Borough
Serious Incidents and Never Events
Healthcare Associated Infections
Medicines Optimisation
Service User Experience of Care
Patient Experience
Commissioner Quality Improvement Visits
Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults

Roles

SDF Clinical
Executives

Clinician
Governing
Body Members

GP Member

CCG Officers
Open
Members

Members
Dr Sanjay
Wahie (until
Sept. 2020)
Dr Gen Wong
(until Sept.
2020)
Dr Adam
Jolles (from
Nov 2020)
Prof Marios
Adamou (from
Nov 2020,
Chair from
March)
Sally Forshaw
(Chair until
January)
Dr Justin
Tankard
Dr Sanjay
Wahie (from
Nov. 2020)

Meetings
attended
3

2

3

3

6

2
3

Linda Scott

6

Julie Crossley

6

Dr Tim Dalton

1
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Corporate Governance Committee (2
meetings)

Role

Members

Meetings
Attended

Following the governance review conducted in
year the Corporate Governance Committee of the Governing
Governing Body merged with the Audit Committee Body Lay
at the end of September 2020 to become the Members
Governance and Audit committee of the Governing
Body.
CCG Officer
The committee provided assurance to the Members

Maurice Smith
(Chair)

2

Peter Armer

2

Frank
Costello

2

Sally Forshaw

1

Governing Body with regard to all corporate
governance issues in the appropriate areas of Open
accountability covering mostly non-clinical controls Members
and regulations. The committee met quarterly, was
chaired by a governing body lay member and
provided a Chairperson’s report to the Governing
Body in the month following each meeting.

Dr Tim Dalton

0

Craig Harris

0

Paul McKevitt

2

The committee received quarterly presentations of
the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF) with the purpose of scrutinising corporate
risks, controls and action plans.
Progress reports were received by the committee
at
each meeting covering
the CCG’s
responsibilities in the areas of:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

Communications
Human Resources
Information Management
Information Governance
Equality & Diversity
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience &
Response (including business continuity
arrangements)
Health & Safety
Incident Reporting
Risk Management & Assurance
Patient Response (enquiries, complaints,
freedom of information enquiries, Member of
Parliament correspondence)
Sustainability
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Finance & Performance Committee (6
meetings)

Membership
category

Following the governance review conducted in
year the Finance & Performance Committee
changed reporting line from the Governing Body to SDF Clinical
ICC at the end of Sept. 2020 and became known Executives
as Finance, Contracting & Performance subcommittee. The committee has implemented and
monitored the CCG arrangements around
Finance, Contracting and Performance, including
CCG Officer
nationally driven initiatives.
Members
The key responsibilities of the committee are:
•
•

•
•
•
•

Agree the annual planning timetable;
Oversee the annual planning process to
ensure the delivery of the following
milestones:
o Commissioning intentions;
o Financial plan;
o Contracts with NHS and Non-NHS
partners;
o Agree annual budget book;
Overview the annual planning cycle for
performance targets;
Review on behalf of the governing body the
monthly finance and performance reports;
Transformation Fund reports;
Review and approve Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) business
cases; and link with the audit committee to
ensure the CCG produces timely and
accurate annual accounts in accordance with
reporting guidance.

Governing
Body Officer
Members

Governing
Body Lay
Members

Members
Dr Mohan
Kumar
(Chair until
Aug. 2020)
Dr Gen
Wong (from
Oct. 2020)
Linda Scott/
Deputy
Julie
Crossley
Paul
McKevitt

Meetings
attended
2

0
6
6
5

Craig Harris

0

Frank
Costello
(Chair from
Sept.2020)

6

Peter Armer

2
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Audit Committee/Governance & Audit
Committee (4 meetings)

Membership
Category

Following the governance review conducted in
year the Audit Committee of the Governing Body
merged with the Corporate Governance
Governing
Committee at the end of September 2020 to Body Lay
become the Governance and Audit committee of Members
the Governing Body.
The committee reviews the establishment and
maintenance of an effective system of integrated
governance, financial oversight, internal control
and risk management across the whole of the
CCG’s activities (both clinical and non-clinical)
that support the achievement of the corporate
priorities.
The main responsibilities of the Governance and
Audit Committee are to:
•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•

Review and adopt the CCG’s financial
statements and annual report;
Review the work and the findings of the
CCG’s External Auditors;
Monitor the work and effectiveness of the
CCG’s Internal Auditors and Anti-fraud
Services;
Review the effectiveness of internal controls,
the Governing Body Assurance Framework
and risk management systems;
Review any findings of Internal Audit and
Anti-fraud Services, and ensure that action
plans are in place and completed;
Monitor any losses and compensation
payments;
Review the CCG’s gifts and hospitality
register and declarations of interest;
Monitor the scope and responsibilities of the
former Corporate Governance Committee’s
terms of reference as described above.

Members
Peter Armer
(Chair)
Maurice Smith
(until Sept.
2020)
Frank Costello
(from Oct.
2020)

Meetings
Attended
4
2

2
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Remuneration Committee
87.

The committee makes recommendations to the governing body on determinations about pay and
remuneration for employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG, in line with the
CCG’s procedure, and evidence based review as outlined in the scheme of delegation.

88.

Following the governance review conducted in year the Remuneration Committee membership was
changed to:
•
•
•
•
•

89.

Lay Member for Transformation and Innovations including the annual QIPP programme (Chair)
Lay Member for Financial Management, Audit, Governance and Conflicts of Interest
Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement & Inclusivity (currently vacant)
Secondary Care Doctor
Executive Registered Nurse

The following are expected to attend as non-voting members:
•
•
•
•

Accountable Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Governing Body Chair
Assistant Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development

90.

The Remuneration Committee has met once this year in February 2021 attended by the two lay
members, Secondary Care Doctor and Assistant Director, HR.

91.

The Committee is responsible for setting pay rates and uplifts for all staff not subject to national Agenda
for Change pay scales. This includes Governing Body Members, Clinical Directors, Clinical Champions,
Practice Managers and Practice Nurse Representatives. The Committee has also monitored the
process for evaluation of Governing Body Members’ Performance.

92.

Finally, the Remuneration Committee has responsibility for setting policies that relate to expenses and
benefits payments, which have included the CCG Travel, Subsistence and Expenses Policy and the
Patient Participation Expenses Policy.
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Primary Care Commissioning
Committee (6 meetings)

Membership Members
Category

The Committee is established in accordance
with statutory provisions to enable the
members to make collective decisions on the
review, planning and procurement of primary
care services in the borough of Wigan, under
delegated authority from NHS England. The
majority of members are drawn from existing
lay members and executive officers of the
Governing Body.

Governing
Body Lay
Member
Secondary
Care Clinician
Governing
Body Member
Governing
Body Officer
Members

Paul McKevitt/
Deputy

The committee is chaired by the Deputy Chair
and lay member of the Governing Body. The
committee met six times in the year and was
quorate at every meeting. A primary care
operational group is established to oversee the
service delivered for the CCG by the NHS
England Greater Manchester Primary Care
Team. The focus for the committee was:

GP Member

Dr Nikesh
Vallabh
Linda Scott
Jonathan Kerry
Claire Roberts
Stuart Cowley/
Deputy
Representative

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Primary Care Quality Improvement
Programme
Transformation Programme
APMS Practice Procurement
Practice mergers
Collaboration with Healthier Wigan
Partnership
Guidance and standard operation
procedures for General Practice in the
context of COVID-19
Infrastructure Programme

CCG Officer
Members
Wigan
Council
Healthwatch
Patient Forum
Members

Meetings
Attended

Frank Costello

6

Prof. Marios
Adamou (from
01/10/2020)

3

Ernie Rothwell

5
6
6
6
3
6
4
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UK Corporate Governance Code
93.

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. However, we have
reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including
those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best
practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
94.

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties
and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any
restrictions on delegation of those functions.

95.

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates have
confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the
CCG’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
96.

The key elements of the risk management framework are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Governing Body
Governing Body Committees
CCG Senior Leadership Team
Governance and Quality Teams
Operational/department Teams
Risk Management Strategy & Policy
Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF)
Directorate/department risk registers

97.

The GBAF is a means of identifying and quantifying strategic risks within the organisation and is the
means by which the Governing Body monitors and controls the risks which may impact on the
organisation’s capacity to achieve its objectives.

98.

The GBAF identifies the corporate priorities of the organisation and the principal risks related to the
delivery of these objectives. Key controls are made explicit together with the assurances on these
controls. In addition, the GBAF identifies linkages with inter-related areas of assurance.

99.

The GBAF together with the monthly Performance Report are the two primary tools used by the
Governing Body to measure and monitor the CCG’s performance.

100. The GBAF was presented to the Governing Body quarterly and is usually submitted following
presentation at Governance and Audit Committee which fulfils its role by focusing on risks, controls,
gaps in control and resultant action plans. The Audit Committee also receives the GBAF at its meetings
and focuses on the positive assurances and gaps in assurance.
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Risk Assessment
101. Of the 13 risks included in the GBAF at the end of Quarter 4, five risks were rated extreme. These were
described as:
•

The continuing COVID-19 pandemic may lead to a level of uncertainty around the response and
how it is organised nationally and locally and what the impact may be on the CCG operationally
and financially.

•

If the response to the COVID-19 pandemic is not managed effectively in General Practice
settings, services to patients will not be delivered appropriately.

•

If the appropriate infection control standards and wider intensive care procedures are not applied
to the in-hospital setting in response to the COVID-19 level 4 incident, patients and staff will be
at increased risk of harm or death.

•

If the appropriate infection control standards are not applied to care homes in response to the
COVID-19 level 4 incident, residents and staff will be at increased risk of harm or death.

•

If the local health and social care system, particularly acute services, does not re-prioritise and
transform in the face of the pandemic threat, the NHS and care system in the borough may be
overwhelmed.

102. These risks have been managed throughout the year following the introduction of the command and
control structure by NHS England in March 2020. The costs and funding regime in-year as described
earlier in the report was also the focus of senior management attention.

Capacity to Handle Risk
103. Acceptable risk following risk assessment can be defined as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

The likely consequences are insignificant.
A higher risk consequence is outweighed by the chance of a much larger benefit.
The occurrence is remote.
The potential financial costs of minimising the risk outweigh the cost consequences of the risk
itself.
Mitigation of the risk could lead to further unacceptable risks in other ways.

104. Therefore it is possible that a risk with a high numerical value may be acceptable to the organisation,
but that decision must be taken at Governing Body/Senior Management level.
105. In addition to the GBAF which records the risks at corporate level (those rated high or extreme) there
are a number of operational risk registers managed at Assistant Director level focusing on risks
assessed as medium or low.

48

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
106. The governing body and senior management of the CCG are responsible for the system of internal
control which is the set of processes and procedures in place to ensure the CCG delivers its policies,
aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically.
107. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating
all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
108. The control environment within the CCG is established and led by the Governing Body which reserves
powers for itself and delegates powers to its committees and officers of the CCG. These controls are
described in the CCG’s constitution which includes standing orders, a scheme of reservation and
delegation and prime financial policies. Internal controls operate over the strategic, planning,
organisational, monitoring, measuring, and improvement elements of the management cycle.
109. The prime financial policies are part of the CCG’s control environment for managing the organisation’s
financial affairs. They contribute to good corporate governance, internal control and managing risks.
They enable sound administration; lessen the risk of irregularities and support commissioning and
delivery of effective, efficient and economical services. They also help the Accountable Officer and
Chief Finance Officer to effectively perform their responsibilities. They are used in conjunction with the
scheme of reservation and delegation.
110. The above control environment is underpinned by an extensive portfolio of human resources and
employment policies which provide, in considerable detail, instructions to members, staff and
contractors how to carry out duties and roles necessary for the CCG to achieve its objectives. The
policies also provide guidance on conduct and behaviour conducive to effective and efficient working.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
111. The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published in 2017) requires
CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to
undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
112. The conclusion from the annual audit was reported as follows:
113. Overall, the CCG has demonstrated that arrangements are in place to satisfy NHS England
requirements with regard to Conflicts of Interest.
114. We have assigned compliance levels (as per NHSE) to each area as follows:
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Scope Area

RAG Rating

Level

1.

Governance Arrangements

⚫

PC

2.

Declarations of interests and gifts
and hospitality

⚫

PC

3.

Register of interests, gifts and
hospitality
and
procurement
decisions

⚫

C

4.

Decision making processes and
contract monitoring

⚫

C

5.

Reporting concerns and identifying
and managing breaches / non
compliance

⚫

C

Key
⚫

Fully Compliant (FC)

⚫

Partially Compliant (PC)

⚫

Non-Compliant (NC)

Actions have since been implemented by management to address the two partially compliant areas.
Data Quality
115. The Governing Body receives Performance and Finance Reports that cover finance and operational
performance at each of its meetings. The data contained in the reports is subject to significant scrutiny
and review, both by management and by various Governing Body committees. The Governing Body is
confident that the information it is presented with has been through appropriate review and scrutiny.
Information Governance
116. The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS
handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal confidential data. The NHS
Information Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual
submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and
to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
117. The CCG carries out a self-assessment against the Data Security and Protection Toolkit requirements,
the review period for which has been extended to 30 June 2021 due to the response to COVID-19.
118. We place high importance on ensuring there are robust data security and protection systems and
processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. No serious data incidents have
occurred at the CCG in the year. We have established an information governance management
framework and have developed processes and procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection
Toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual data security training and have implemented a
staff handbook to ensure staff are aware of their roles and responsibilities.
119. There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. We have
developed information risk assessment and management procedures and a culture to address
information security has been fully embedded throughout the organisation.
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Business Critical Models
120. No business critical models were introduced at the CCG during 2020/21. Where these are to be applied
in future the CCG will ensure that quality assurance takes place in line with the recommendations in
the Macpherson report.
Third party assurances
121. The CCG has received third party assurance in the form of International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3402 reports for 2020-21 from:
•

NHS Shared Business Services Auditor Report into Financial Accounting processes, procured
through NHS England. The CCG considers the exceptions noted do not have a material
consequence for the CCG, and the CCG has gained adequate assurance through this process.

•

NHS Business Services Authority through its service auditor report covering governance, risk
management and internal control over its prescription payments process and finance and
accounting services. The report is qualified except for. The three exceptions are for prescription
payments and one for dental payments which are considered by the CCG to have compensating
controls which mitigate any potential impact;

•

The report of the independent service auditors on IT general controls for the NHS Electronic Staff
Record Programme; a qualified opinion has been received and the exceptions noted are not
considered to be significant to the CCG.

•

NHS England commission service auditor reports around the GP payment system from NHS
Digital and Capita. These two reports need to be considered together to provide assurance over
the transactions flowing through the GP payments system. Whilst exceptions are noted in the
reports, these are not considered significant to the CCG, who has mitigating entity level controls
to provide the necessary level of assurance

Control Issues
122. Further to the five extreme risks referred to above, the following conclusion and specific actions have
been taken:
•

•
•
•
•

The CCG is collaborating with all partners to ensure implementation of command and control
guidance. Greater Manchester assurance is managed through Gold Command and community
cells;
All Trusts have undertaken modelling which is refreshed weekly to show demand and capacity
for critical care, general and acute beds and discharges;
There is a consistent approach to the elective programme and clinical priorities;
Each locality has system escalation in place to be proactive to any changes;
Practices are following the NHS England standard operating procedure for all working practices
to ensure safe delivery of services for staff and patients.
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Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
123. The CCG recognises and applies the principles of Economy: minimising the cost of resources used or
required while having regard to quality; Efficiency: the relationship between the output from services
and the resources to produce them; and Effectiveness: the extent to which objectives are achieved
and the relationship between the intended and actual results of spending.
124. The financial regime during the first half of the year negated the need to achieve QIPP savings, whilst
the ability to achieve QIPP savings in the second half of the year is severely restricted due to the
ongoing COVID-19 impacts and the national phase 3 recovery requirements. The CCG remains
committed to achieving long term financial sustainability and a strong focus on QIPP savings will be
pursued at the earliest allowable opportunity.
125. The CCG’s internal auditors utilise an approach which is based on best practice and has been
developed in accordance with professional standards. The planning methodology also ensures a
contribution to supporting the CCG in achieving its strategic objectives and coverage of our business
critical systems over a rolling programme. The principles of achieving value for money are included in
the scope of each audit.

Delegation of functions
126. The Governing Body receives reports from its established committees at each of its meetings. In this
way any concerns or risks are identified and escalated where appropriate. Our SDF groupings of
practices are well-placed to take a lead on monitoring and managing performance including activity,
quality and financial performance. Performance of functions operated by Greater Manchester Shared
Service is quality assured through an established and regular reporting arrangement.

Counter fraud arrangements
127. The CCG’s arrangements for countering fraud and corruption are characterised by:
•

An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter fraud work
proportionate to identified risks and in accordance with the NHS Standards Contract Service
Condition 24 and NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s Standards for Commissioners;

•

The Audit Committee receiving a report against each of the Standards for Commissioners
annually and progress reports at each of its meetings. There is executive support and direction
for a proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks;

•

The Chief Finance Officer being the member of the executive team proactively and demonstrably
responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption;

•

NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s most recent inspection of the CCG’s arrangements in March 2018
resulted in the following conclusion: “Based on the evidence supplied during the assessment
process, all 13 standards were given a green rating. This meant the overall ratings for Strategic
Governance and Inform and Involve were also green.”

Whistle-blowing Arrangements
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128. The CCG is committed to ensuring the highest possible standards of service and the highest possible
ethical standards in delivering this service. It is the responsibility of all staff to ensure that if they become
aware that the actions of other employees or officers of the CCG or anyone working for, with or
connected to it might compromise this objective, they will be expected to raise the matter.
129. The CCG’s Whistleblowing Policy is endorsed by the staff side forum and the Corporate Governance
Committee. Prior to this it was reviewed by the Anti-Fraud Specialist employed by Mersey Internal Audit
Agency and it was then rolled out to all staff by internal communication and posted on the CCG’s
intranet.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Our opinion is set out as follows:

Basis for the
opinion

Commentary

Overall
opinion

Basis
The basis for forming our opinion is as follows:

Basis for the opinion
1

An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework and supporting
processes.

1

An assessment of the range of individual assurances arising from our risk-based internal audit assignments
that have been reported throughout the period. This assessment has taken account the relative materiality
of systems reviewed and management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses identified.

2

An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations, and the extent to which
they have been implemented.

Overall Opinion
Our overall opinion for the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 is:
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High Assurance, can be given that there is a strong system of internal control which has been
effectively designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are consistently
applied in all areas reviewed.
Substantial Assurance, can be given that that there is a good system of internal control
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied
consistently.



Moderate Assurance, can be given that there is an adequate system of internal control,
however, in some areas weaknesses in design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts
the achievement of some of the organisation’s objectives at risk.
Limited Assurance, can be given that there is a compromised system of internal control as
weaknesses in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls impacts on the overall
system of internal control and puts the achievement of the organisation’s objectives at risk.
No Assurance, can be given that there is an inadequate system of internal control as
weaknesses in control, and/or consistent non-compliance with controls could/has resulted in
failure to achieve the organisation’s objectives.

Commentary
The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and together with the opinion should be
read in its entirety.
Our opinion covers the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 inclusive, and is underpinned by the
work conducted through the risk based internal audit plan. The Audit Plan is delivered with the
exception of the reviews of Workforce Health & Wellbeing and Committee Effectiveness. The final
annual reports will be updated to reflect the outcome of this review as appropriate.

Assurance Framework
Phase 1 Opinion
Processes in place to update the AF were robust. The AF was visibly reviewed by the organisation’s Governing
Body and Audit Committee. The AF clearly reflects the impact of COVID-19 on the organisation.

Phase 2 Opinion
The survey results are positive, all survey respondents agreed that the AF aligns strategic objectives to key risks,
that governance and reporting structures around the AF are clear and that they felt adequately assured over the
management and mitigation of risks on AF. Answers to the survey questions and comments made by respondents
highlight that whilst risk appetite is not explicitly covered in the AF it is picked up through the organisation’s
governance structure.

Phase 3 Opinion
Structure

The organisation’s AF is structured to meet the NHS requirements.

Engagement

The AF is visibly used by the organisation’s Governing Body.
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Quality &
Alignment

The AF clearly reflects the risks discussed by the Governing Body.

Core & Risk Based Reviews Issued
We issued:
Two high assurance opinions:

Primary Medical Care Commissioning and Contracting: Commissioning
and Procurement of Primary Medical Services
GP COVID-19 Claims Post Payment Verification Review

Two substantial assurance
opinions:

COVID-19 Claims Review
Key Financial Systems
Workforce Health and Wellbeing

Zero moderate assurance opinions:

Not applicable

One limited assurance opinion:

Section 75 & Integrated Commissioning Committee

Zero no assurance opinions:

Not applicable

Two reviews without an assurance
rating

Conflicts of Interest
Data Security and Protection Readiness Report

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
130. The Accountable Officer’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by
the work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external
auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.
131. Our GBAF provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG
achieving its corporate priorities have been reviewed. The CCG has improved its standing as judged
by NHS England for 2019/20 from “Requires Improvement” to “Good” with outstanding features. The
overall result was published by NHS England on 25 November 2020.
132. The assessment looks at elements of performance such as: the capability and capacity of the
leadership, the delivery of quality services, the governance of the CCG and how it leads the
transformation of local services. Areas of significant improvement this year include moving from
requires improvement to outstanding in having a clear vision and credible strategy, having leaders with
the right capability and experience to effectively manage, and moving from requires improvement to
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good in the financial management areas. Other areas we were already seen as outstanding in, include
patient engagement and involvement and ensuring the quality of local NHS services.

Conclusion
133. No significant internal control issues have been identified during 2020/21 at Wigan Borough Clinical
Commissioning Group.

Professor Craig Harris
Managing Director/Accountable Officer
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee
134. The remuneration of the Governing Body of the CCG is the responsibility of the Remuneration
Committee.
135. The Remuneration Committee has the following membership:
•
•
•
•
•

Mr Frank Costello - Lay Member and Remuneration Committee Chair;
Mr Peter Armer, Lay Member;
Vacancy - Lay Member
Dr Marios Adamous, Secondary Care Doctor
Sally Forshaw - Executive Registered Nurse

136. The following may be expected to attend as non-voting members:
•
Professor Craig Harris - Chief Accountable Officer
•
Mr Paul McKevitt - Chief Finance Officer
•
Dr Tim Dalton - Chair of the Governing Body
•
Ms Kathryn Ball - Assistant Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development
•
Ms Ella Bailey - Associate Director of Finance
137. Additional members may be co-opted onto the Committee at the discretion of the Committee or its
Chair. Representatives may be asked to attend the meeting for ad- hoc requirements.
138. There is no provision for deputies to represent voting members at the meetings of the Committee.
139. The Remuneration Committee met once in 2020/21. There are 5 members of this committee which is
formed of Governing Body members. The meeting was attended by 3 lay members. A Human
Resources representative was also present at the meeting and the Chair’s PA was in attendance for
minute taking. The Accountable Officer joined the meeting for a specific agenda item.
140. The CCG has established a clear policy whereby when decisions are made; any members who are
personally affected by this decision are not included in any discussions or vote to avoid any conflict of
interest.

Policy on the remuneration of very senior managers, clinical leads, clinical champions,
lead practice nurses and lead practice managers
141. The committee has responsibility for:
•

Establishing an appropriate appraisal system for elected members who are employees of the
group, for the Chief Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer and other senior employees who
are not employed on Agenda for Change terms and conditions and the level of annual rewards for
elected members who are employees of the CCG, for the Chief Accountable Officer, Chief Finance
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Officer, Executive Nurse and other senior employees who are not employed on Agenda for Change
terms and conditions;
•

Reviewing the performance of the Accountable Officer and other senior employees where any
annual salary awards if applicable and make recommendations where applicable;

•

Determining the severance payment of Governing Body members’ posts seeking HM Treasury
approval as appropriate in accordance with the guidance “Managing Public Money” where
appropriate to the office held;

•

Setting allowances under any pension scheme that the group might establish as an alternative to
the NHS pension scheme; and, where the group has discretion recommend other benefits which
may form part of a total reward system;

•

Approving relocation allowances above the CCG’s policy limit.

142. In considering pay awards the Remuneration Committee will consider all relevant guidance, national
pay awards, affordability and will benchmark against data for similar size organisations to enable a
recommendation to be reached.
143. The pay of the Governing Body and Clinical leads is not currently directly linked to performance, that
is, there is no specific performance related pay. However, both the Governing Body and its individual
clinical lead members are subject to performance review.

Policy on senior employees who are not employed on Agenda for change terms and
conditions.
144. In September 2020, the Governing Body was restructured and membership (excluding executive
Members) were re-elected. The new structure reduced the GP Clinical members from seven to three.
Revisions to the Constitution will state elections for clinical members for appointment to the new office
holder posts with a tenure from 1 September 2020 for a 3 year term.

Governing Body GP Clinical Members and SDF GP Leads Office Holder Agreements
145. The GP Clinical Governing Body members and SDF GP Leads Office Holder Agreements include
termination arrangements which state:
•

The Constitution sets out the grounds on which your appointment may be terminated. The CCG
may terminate your appointment if you do not properly comply with the requirements of the
regulations with regard to pecuniary interests in matters under discussion at meetings of the CCG
(e.g. a failure to disclose such an interest).

•

The CCG may terminate an appointment if the CCG consider that it is no longer in the interests
of the Health Service that an appointee continues in office.

•

As a consequence of your appointment, the member is entitled to be remunerated by the CCG for
so long as they continue to hold office as a Governing Body Member. They are entitled to receive
remuneration only in relation to the period for which they hold office. There is no entitlement to
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compensation for loss of office but the CCG will offer a ‘resettlement grant’ equivalent to 3 months
of equivalent arrangements (but not at the end of the maximum period)
146. The office holder agreement states Governing Body Members on the Governing Body of CCGs hold a
statutory office under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. It does not create any employment contract
or contract of/for services between them and the CCG.

Lay Member office holder agreements and Secondary Care Clinician office holder
agreement
147. The lay members and Secondary care Clinician of the Governing Body whose services are via an office
holder agreement which were advertised and appointed for a tenure of 3 years with effect from 1
September 2020.
148. Two of the Lay member roles have been recruited to and both individuals are covering the vacant post
•
•
•

Lay Member for Transformation and Innovations including the annual QIPP programme (Chair)
Lay Member for Financial Management, Audit, Governance and Conflicts of Interest
Lay Member for Patient and Public Engagement & Inclusivity (currently vacant)

149. The Lay Member Officer Holder Agreements include termination arrangements which state:
•

The Constitution sets out the grounds on which your appointment may be terminated. The CCG
may terminate your appointment if you do not properly comply with the requirements of the
regulations with regard to pecuniary interests in matters under discussion at meetings of the
CCG (e.g. a failure to disclose such an interest).

•

The CCG may terminate an appointment if the CCG consider that it is no longer in the interests
of the Health Service that an appointee continues in office.

•

As a consequence of your appointment, the member is entitled to be remunerated by the CCG
for so long as they continue to hold office as a Governing Body Member. They are entitled to
receive remuneration only in relation to the period for which they hold office. There is no
entitlement to compensation for loss of office.

150. The office holder agreement states Lay Members on the Governing Body of CCGs hold a statutory
office under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. It does not create any employment contract or
contract for/of services between them and the CCG.

Clinical System Leads – contract of service
151. The clinical system leads contract of service includes termination arrangements which state:
•

They are entitled to one month’s written notice from the CCG and one month’s notice to be
served by either party or, if greater, statutory minimum notice, except in the case of summary
or immediate dismissal. Wigan Borough CCG may exercise its discretion to pay in lieu of all or
part of your notice period.

•

Payment in lieu of notice, as a lump sum payment, may be made at the discretion of the CCG
and with the approval of the CCG’s Remuneration Committee. Wigan Borough CCG may at
any time terminate employment by giving notice unless the reason for termination of
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employment is summary/immediate dismissal. If they have worked for part of their notice, pay
in lieu of notice, as a lump sum payment, may be paid for the unexpired element of the notice
period.
•

The contract of service forms a worker relationship and may be subject to statutory
redundancy pay.

•

The clinical system leads were appointed with a tenure from 31 March 2021 for a 3 year term.
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Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements)
152. For each member of the Governing Body who has served during the financial year 2020/21, remuneration and pension benefits are shown in the
table below. Pension related benefits data is provided by the NHS Pensions Scheme in line with Greenbury reporting guidance on an annual basis.
This table has been subject to audit.
2020/21
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense

Performance pay

Long term

All pension-

TOTAL

(bands

payments

and bonuses

performance pay

related benefits

(a to e)

of

(taxable)

(bands of

and bonuses

(bands of

(bands of

£5,000)

to nearest £100**

£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

£2,500)

£5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

90-95

0

0

0

22.5-25.0

115-120

135-140

0

0

0

232.5-235.0

365-370

Mr P McKevitt –Chief Finance Officer (1)

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

Mr F Costello –Lay Member

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

Mr P Armer - Lay Member

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

115-120

0

0

0

7.5-10.0

120-125

Dr J Davies – Clinical GB Member

45-50

0

0

0

7.5-10.0

50-55

Dr A Jolles - Clinical GB Member (4)

25-30

0

0

0

0*

0*

Dr G Wong – Clinical GB Member

50-55

0

0

0

65.0-67.5

115-120

Name and Title

Dr T Dalton - Chair
Prof. C Harris – Accountable Officer

Dr M Adamou – Secondary Care Doctor (2)
Mrs S Forshaw – Nurse Member (3)
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2020/21

Name and Title

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense

Performance pay

Long term

All pension-

TOTAL

(bands

payments

and bonuses

performance pay

related benefits

(a to e)

of

(taxable)

(bands of

and bonuses

(bands of

(bands of

£5,000)

to nearest £100**

£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

£2,500)

£5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

Members not in post as at 31st March 2021
Mr M Smith – Lay Member (5)

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Dr M Kumar – Clinical GB Member (6)

25-30

0

0

0

0*

0*

Dr S Wahie -Clinical GB Member (6)

30-35

0

0

0

0*

20-25

Dr N James – Clinical GB Member (6)

10-15

0

0

0

52.5-55.0

65-70

Dr S Shah – Clinical GB Member (6)

10-15

0

0

0

0*

0*

* The calculation of pension related benefits resulted in a negative value which is shown as zero for reporting purposes.
**Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
(1) Mr P McKevitt is also remunerated through Wigan Council for his position as Treasurer. His total salary band over both organisations is £190k - £195k
(2) Dr M Adamou has been in post since 1st September 2020 , the amount represents seven months
(3) Mrs S Forshaw remuneration also includes her officer role of Director of Nursing & Quality.
(4) Dr A Jolles has been in post since 1st September 2020, the amount represents seven months.
(5) Mr M Smith was in post until the 31st August 2020.
(6) Dr M Kumar, Dr S Wahie, Dr N James, Dr S Shah were in post until 31st August 2020.
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153. Remuneration and pensions benefits for the prior year 2019/20, are shown below:
2019/20
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense

Performance pay

Long term

All pension-

TOTAL

(bands of

payments

and bonuses

performance pay

related benefits

(a to e)

£5,000)

(taxable)

(bands of

and bonuses

(bands of

(bands of

to nearest £100**

£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

£2,500)

£5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dr T Dalton - Chair

90-95

0

0

0

20-22.5

110-115

Prof. C Harris – Accountable Officer (1)

95-100

1

0

0

50.0-52.5

145-150

Mr P McKevitt –Chief Finance Officer (2)

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

Mr F Costello –Lay Member

15-20

1

0

0

0

15-20

Mr M Smith – Lay Member

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Mr P Armer - Lay Member

5-10

1

0

0

0

5-10

Mrs S Forshaw – Nurse Member (3)

115-120

1

0

0

127.5-130

245-250

Dr M Kumar – Clinical GB Member

65-70

0

0

0

62.5 - 65

125-130

Dr S Wahie -Clinical GB Member

85-90

0

0

0

0*

80-85

Dr G Wong – Clinical GB Member

60-65

0

0

0

37.5-40

100-105

Dr J Davies – Clinical GB Member

50-55

0

0

0

12.5-15

60-65

Dr N James – Clinical GB Member

30-35

0

0

0

10-12.5

40-45

Dr S Shah – Clinical GB Member

35-40

0

0

0

17.5-20

55-60

Name and Title

Members not in post as at 31st March 2020
Dr G Cook – Secondary Care Clinical GB
Member (4)

5-10

Mrs C Kurkeja – Interim Chief Officer (5)

35-40

1

0

0

0

5-10

0

0

0

10-12.5

50-55
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2019/20

Name and Title

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense

Performance pay

Long term

All pension-

TOTAL

(bands of

payments

and bonuses

performance pay

related benefits

(a to e)

£5,000)

(taxable)

(bands of

and bonuses

(bands of

(bands of

to nearest £100**

£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

£2,500)

£5,000)

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

0

0

0*

0*

£000
Dr P Marwick – Clinical GB Member (6)

0-5

* The calculation of pension related benefits resulted in a negative value which is shown as zero for reporting purposes.
**Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.
(1) Prof C Harris has been in post since July 2019, the amount shown represents nine months.
(2)Mr P McKevitt is also remunerated through Wigan Council for his position as Treasurer. His total salary band over both organisations is £190k - £195k
(3) Mrs S Forshaw remuneration also includes her officer role of Director of Nursing & Quality.
(4) Dr G Cook was in post until the September 2019
(5) Mrs C Kurkeja was in post until the July 2019
(6) Dr P Marwick was in post until the May 2019
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2021
154. For each member of the Governing Body who has served during the financial year 2020/21, pension benefits are shown below. (This table has
been subject to audit)
2020/21
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Real

Real increase

Total accrued

Lump sum at

Cash

Real

Cash

Employers

increase

in pension

pension at

pension age

Equivalent

Increase in

Equivalent

Contribution

in

lump sum at

pension age at

related to accrued

Transfer

Cash

Transfer

to

pension

pension age

31 March 2021

pension at 31

Value at 1

Equivalent

Value at 31

partnership

at

(bands of

(bands of

March 2021

April 2020

Transfer

March 2021

pension

pension

£2,500)

£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

55-60

484

35

528

N/A

Prof. C Harris – Accountable Officer

10-12.5

17.5-20

35-40

65-70

335

166

507

N/A

Mrs S Forshaw – Nurse Member (1)

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

40-45

130-135

1017

52

1087

N/A

Dr G Wong – Clinical GB Member

2.5-5.0

5.0 -7.5

25-30

60-65

424

77

508

N/A

Dr J Davies – Clinical GB Member

0-2.5

0*

10-15

25-30

188

12

204

N/A

2.5-5.0

12.5-15

10-15

30-35

25

88

195

N/A

Name and Title

Value

age
(bands
of
£2,500)

Dr T Dalton - Chair

Dr A Jolles – Clinical GB Member (2)
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2020/21
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Real

Real increase

Total accrued

Lump sum at

Cash

Real

Cash

Employers

increase

in pension

pension at

pension age

Equivalent

Increase in

Equivalent

Contribution

in

lump sum at

pension age at

related to accrued

Transfer

Cash

Transfer

to

pension

pension age

31 March 2021

pension at 31

Value at 1

Equivalent

Value at 31

partnership

at

(bands of

(bands of

March 2021

April 2020

Transfer

March 2021

pension

pension

£2,500)

£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Name and Title

Value

age
(bands
of
£2,500)
£000

£000

£000

Members not in post as at 31st March 2021
Dr M Kumar – Clinical GB
Member

0*

0*

25-30

40-45

595

0*

482

N/A

Dr S Wahie -Clinical GB
Member

0-2.5

0*

15-20

35-40

335

0*

337

N/A

Dr N James – Clinical GB
Member

0-2.5

5.-7.5

10-15

25-30

189

54

246

N/A

0*

5-10

10-15

134

0*

116

N/A

Dr S Shah – Clinical GB
Member

0*

* The calculation of pension related benefits resulted in a negative value which is shown as zero for reporting purposes.
(1) Mrs S Forshaw remuneration also includes her officer role of Director of Nursing & Quality.
(2) Dr A Jolles has been in post since 1st September 2020, the amount represents seven months.
Please note the Chief Finance Officer is not part of the NHS pension scheme.
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Cash equivalent transfer values
155. A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued
benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the
scheme.
156. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another
pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits
accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has
accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a
senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
157. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional
years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
158. This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in
accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits
transferred from another scheme or arrangement).

Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office
159. There have been no payments for early retirement or loss of office in 2020/21

Payments to past members
160. No payments have been made to past senior managers.

Pay multiples
161. Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid
director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
162. The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member at Wigan Borough CCG in the financial
year 2020/21 was £135,000 (2019/20: £130,000). This was 3.5 times (2019/20 : 3.5 times) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £38,890 (2019/20: £37,570). This is subject to audit.
163. In 2020/21, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director/Member.
Remuneration ranged from £17,500 to £140,000 (2019/20: £7,500 to £130,000)
164. The CCG has seen an increase in the lowest paid due to the disestablishment of a post previously
reported as lowest paid.
165. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not
severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.
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Staff Report
Number of senior managers
166. The CCG has the following number of senior managers by band as at 31st March 2021. The CCG defines
senior managers as those staff on contracts of employment who are paid on Bands 8a to Band 9 and
Other (VSM/Governing Body) contracts (Subject to Audit):

Band 8 - Range A
Band 8 - Range B
Band 8 - Range C
Band 8 – Range D
Band 9
Other/GB/VSM
Total

Total
11
20
8
2
3
11
55

Permanent
11
19
8
0
2
11
51

Other
1
2
1
0
4

The above numbers are based on head count. It excludes workers who undertake clinical roles for the
CCG on a contract for service. Other relates to staff currently on secondment and temporary roles.
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Staff numbers and costs
167. Staff costs 2020/21 (This table has been subject to Audit)
2020/21

Admin

Programme

Total 2020/21

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Salaries and Wages

3,203

7

3,210

3,255

159

3,414

6,458

165

6,623

Social Security Costs

342

0

342

347

0

347

689

0

689

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension
Scheme

762

0

762

408

0

408

1,171

0

1,171

9

0

9

9

0

9

18

0

18

4,316

7

4,323

4,019

159

4,178

8,336

165

8,501

(11)

0

(11)

0

0

0

(11)

0

(11)

4,305

7

4,312

4,019

159

4,178

8,324

165

8,490

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,305

7

4,312

4,019

159

4,178

8,324

165

8,490

Employee Benefits

Apprenticeship Levy
Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure
Less recoveries in Respect Employee Benefits
(note 4.1.2)
Total: Net Admin Employee Benefits
Including Capitalised Costs
Less: Employee Costs Capitalised
Net Employee Benefits Excluding
Capitalised Costs
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168. Staff costs 2019/20
2019/20

Admin

Programme

Total 2019/20

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Salaries and Wages

3,319

72

3,391

2,847

369

3,216

6,166

441

6,607

Social Security Costs

365

0

365

294

0

294

659

0

659

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension
Scheme

763

0

763

339

0

339

1,103

0

1,103

Apprenticeship Levy

10

0

10

7

0

7

16

0

16

Termination Benefits

(8)

0

(8)

0

0

0

(8)

0

(8)

Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure

4,449

72

4,521

3,487

369

3,856

7,936

441

8,376

Less recoveries in Respect Employee Benefits
(note 4.1.2)

(161)

0

(161)

(220)

0

(220)

(381)

0

(381)

Total: Net Admin Employee Benefits
Including Capitalised Costs

4,288

72

4,360

3,267

369

3,636

7,554

441

7.995

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,288

72

4,360

3,267

369

3,636

7,554

441

7,995

Employee Benefits

Less: Employee Costs Capitalised
Net Employee Benefits Excluding
Capitalised Costs

Staff composition
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169. The staff composition, based on contracted Whole Time Equivalent of staff in post as at 31st March
2021 is as follows:

Governing Body
Senior Management (8a and above)
Other Administration
Pharmacy
Nursing
170.

Male
1.29
11.63
21.00
2
2

Female
0.14
17.67
46.17
11.57
24.29

The average staff numbers for 2020-21 are (This has been subject to Audit):

Administration
Pharmacy
Nursing
Total

Permanent
100.13
10.72
28.21
139.06

Other
2
0
0
2

171. The above are the contracted whole time equivalents, calculated on an average across 2020-21. It
includes agency, temporary and seconded in staff but excludes staff on outward secondment,
Chairman and Lay Members (as these are defined as non-staff in the Annual Accounts).

Staff Turnover
172. Staff turnover percentage for 2020/21 as a headcount figure is 12.38%. The staff turnover
percentage for 2020/21 as a full time equivalent figure is 9.85%.

Staff survey
173. Wigan Borough CCG NHS staff survey engagement percentage was 82%. The overall percentage
for CCGs was 70% and above the 45% of the 120 Trusts and specialist organisations to

undertake the survey.
Sickness absence data
174. Detail of the CCG sickness data can be accessed via the digital NHS website, link below.
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates

Staff Policies
175. The CCG has a range of HR policies and procedures that apply in the financial year which include
Recruitment and Selection Policy; Learning & Development Policy; Appraisal Development and Pay
Progression policy, Flexible Working and Working Time policy, Flexi-time policy, Managing
Attendance policy, Human Rights, Equality, Diversity and Equal Opportunities policy and Leave of
Absence policy.
176. The CCG has a recruitment and retention policy, an Appraisal, Development and Pay Progression
policy and a Learning and Development policy which supports equal opportunity in relation to
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appointing, employment and training of disabled employees. We ensure that reasonable
adjustments are made for disabled employees – from invitations to interview, through induction and
regular monitoring of learning and development opportunities for fairness and equity.
177. We have an Equality, Diversity and Equal Opportunities policy which provides the framework for
delivery of diversity and inclusion. Our policies are supported by an action plan and our Equality and
Diversity Collaborative Group, which comprises partner organisations across the system and has a
terms of reference to support the equality an inclusion agenda.

Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements
178. Trade Union Facility Time Reporting Requirements:
Table 1
Relevant union officials
Total number of your employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during the relevant period
2

Full-time equivalent employee number
2

Table 2
Percentage of time spent on facility time
Employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant period spent a) 0%,
b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their working hours on facility time?
Percentage of time

Number of employees

0%

0

1-50%

2

51-99%

0

100%

0

Table 3
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Pay / Percentage

Figures

Provide the total cost of facility time

£7,899

Provide the total pay bill
Provide the percentage of the total pay bill
spent on facility time, calculated as:
(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100

£8.501m
0.093%

Table 4
Paid trade union activities
As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by employees
who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade union activities?
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Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility
time hours calculated as:
41%
(total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant union officials
during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time hours) x 100

Other employee matters
Expenditure on consultancy
179. The CCG has spent £8,560.00 on consultancy fees which includes an advisor for the CCG APMS
procurement and patient experience project.
Off-payroll engagements
180. The CCG policy, set by the Remuneration Committee, is that any senior official of the CCG will be
contracted as an employee and paid through payroll. There are no senior officials or members of
the Governing Body employed via off-payroll arrangements.
181. The CCG has put provisions in place to receive formal assurance that anyone paid at more than
£245 per day and employed off payroll for more than six months is meeting their income tax and
NIC obligations in full. If that reassurance is not provided when requested, the contracts will be
terminated.
182. The CCG has no off-payroll arrangements for specialist or interim contractors as at 31st March 2021
that meet the criteria of more than £245 per day and is an arrangement that lasts longer than a six
month period.

73

Parliamentary accountability and audit report
Wigan Borough CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit
Report but has opted to include disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges in this Accountability Report at page 132 An
audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 75-80
Signed by:

Professor Craig Harris
Accountable Officer
11th June 2021
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SECTION 3:

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
(FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)

Professor Craig Harris
Accountable Officer
11th June 2021
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Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS
Wigan Borough Clinical Commissioning Group
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Wigan Borough Clinical Commissioning
Group (the ‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and international
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Accounts Directions issued
under Schedule 15 of the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by the Health and
Social Care Act 2012 and interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social
Care Group Accounting Manual 2020 to 2021.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2021 and of
its expenditure and income for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards as
interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2020 to 2021; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service
Act 2006, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of
Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Accountable Officer’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the CCG to cease to continue as a
going concern.
In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the
expectation set out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2020 to 2021 that the CCG’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going
concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of services
currently provided by the CCG In doing so we have had regard to the guidance provided in
Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the
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United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public
sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the
CCG and the CCG’s disclosures over the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate.
The responsibilities of the Accountable Officer with respect to going concern are described in
the ‘Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the
financial statements’ section of this report.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other
information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit
Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on
behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to
consider whether the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by
NHS England or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware
from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance Statement
addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Accounts Directions issued under Schedule 15 of the National Health
Service Act 2006, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and interpreted
and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2020 to 2021; and
• based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and
our knowledge of the CCG, the other information published together with the financial
statements in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Opinion on regularity of income and expenditure required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
• we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of
the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of
action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency; or
• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for
the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been
informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the
transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income
in the financial statements.
The Governance and Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged
with Governance are responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities . This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in
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the financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of
an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements
may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in
accordance with the ISAs (UK).
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below:
• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable
to the CCG and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial statements are those related to the reporting frameworks
(international accounting standards and the National Health Service Act 2006, as
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and interpreted and adapted by the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2020 to 2021).
• We enquired of management and the Governance and Audit committee, concerning the
CCG’s policies and procedures relating to:
− the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;
− the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and
− the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations.
• We enquired of management, internal audit and the audit committee, whether they were

aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had
any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
• We assessed the susceptibility of the CCG’s financial statements to material
misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating management's incentives
and opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This included the
evaluation of the risk of management override of controls.
• Our audit procedures involved:
− evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has in place to
prevent and detect fraud;
− journal entry testing, with a focus on the material year end transactions and manual
journals posted during the year with high risk characteristics;
− challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant
accounting estimates in respect of prescribing;
− assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of
our procedures on the related financial statement item.
• These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or error. However, detecting irregularities that result from
fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as those
irregularities that result from fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery
or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the
less likely we would become aware of it.
• The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, including the potential for fraud in revenue and/or expenditure recognition,
and the significant accounting estimates related to prescribing accrual.
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• Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's:
− understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature
and complexity through appropriate training and participation
− knowledge of the health sector and economy in which the CCG operates
− understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the CCG including:
− the provisions of the applicable legislation
− NHS England’s rules and related guidance
− the applicable statutory provisions.
• In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding
of:
− the CCG’s operations, including the nature of its operating revenue and expenditure
and its services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of
transactions, account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business
risks that may result in risks of material misstatement.
− the CCG's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by
the CCG to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting
framework.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have
not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March
2021.
Our work on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will be reported in our
commentary on the CCG’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any
significant weaknesses in these arrangements, these will be reported by exception in our
Audit Completion Certificate. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect
on our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting
in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use
of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. This guidance sets
out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on
these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their

80

commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:
•

Financial sustainability: how the CCG plans and manages its resources to ensure it can
continue to deliver its services;

•

Governance: how the CCG ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly
manages its risks; and

•

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the CCG uses information about
its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the arrangements the CCG has in place for each of
these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk
assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we
consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in
arrangements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in certification of
completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the NHS Wigan
Clinical Commissioning Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice
until we have completed our work on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Andrew Smith, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
Manchester
14 June 2021
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WIGAN BOROUGH CCG FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Foreword to the Accounts
The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted
in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been prepared by Wigan Borough
CCG under section 17 of schedule 1A of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
in the form which the Secretary of States has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) requires Clinical Commissioning Groups
to prepare their Annual Report and Annual Accounts in accordance with Directions issued by
NHS England.

Signed by:

Professor Craig Harris
Accountable Officer
11th June 2021

Mr Paul McKevitt
Chief Finance Officer
11th June 2021
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Governing
Body of NHS Wigan Borough Clinical Commissioning Group
In our auditor’s report issued on 14 June 2021, we explained that we could not formally
conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the CCG for the year ended 31 March
2021, in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
and the Code of Audit Practice, until we had completed our work on the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We
have now completed this work, and the results of our work are set out below.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our auditor’s report for the year ended 31 March 2021 issued on 14 June 2021 we
reported that, in our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2021 and of
its expenditure and income for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards as
interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2020 to 2021; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service
Act 2006, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
No matters have come to our attention since that date that would have a material impact on
the financial statements on which we gave this opinion.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have
not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March
2021.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
The Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. This
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guidance sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’.
When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to
structure their commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:
•

Financial sustainability: how the CCG plans and manages its resources to ensure it can
continue to deliver its services;

•

Governance: how the CCG ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly
manages its risks; and

•

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the CCG uses information about
its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the CCG has in place for each
of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk
assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we
have considered whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses
in arrangements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Audit
certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of NHS Wigan Borough Clinical Commissioning
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG
those matters we are required to state to them in an audit certificate and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Andrew Smith, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
Manchester
17 September 2021
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March
2021

Note

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(355)
(19)
(375)

(25,907)
(23)
(25,931)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

8,501
618,156
48
(141)
162
626,725

8,376
555,104
48
193
163
563,884

Net Operating Expenditure

626,351

537,953

Finance income
Finance expense
Net expenditure for the Year

0
0
626,351

0
0
537,953

Total Net Expenditure for the Financial Year
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

626,351
626,351

537,953
537,953

Notes 1 to 23 also form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2021

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

2020-21

2019-20

£'000

£'000

8
9

53
123
177

60
164
224

10
11

1,226
4
1,230

2,839
6
2,845

1,407

3,070

(27,874)
(371)
(28,245)

(25,925)
(530)
(26,455)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(26,838)

(23,385)

Assets less Liabilities

(26,838)

(23,385)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(26,838)
(26,838)

(23,385)
(23,385)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Notes 1 to 23 also form part of this statement.

12
13
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The financial statements were approved in accordance with the Clinical
Commissioning Group Scheme of Delegation on the 11th June 2021 and signed on
its behalf by:

Signed by:

Professor Craig Harris
Accountable Officer
11th June 2021

Mr Paul McKevitt
Chief Finance Officer
11th June 2021
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

General
fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Balance at 01 April 2020
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2021

(23,385)
0
(23,385)

(23,385)
0
(23,385)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(626,351)

(626,351)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for
sale financial assets)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year
Net funding*
Balance at 31 March 2021

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(626,351)
622,898
(26,838)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(626,351)
622,898
(26,838)

*Cash funding received in year 2020-21
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

General
fund
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2019
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

Total
reserves
£'000

(24,860)
0
(24,860)

(24,860)
0
(24,860)

(537,953)

(537,953)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of other investments and Financial Assets (excluding available for
sale financial assets)
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding*
Balance at 31 March 2020

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(537,953)
539,429
(23,385)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(537,953)
539,429
(23,385)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating costs for the financial year

*Cash funding received in year 2019-20
Notes 1 to 23 also form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
10
12
13
13

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

Notes 1 to 23 also form part of this statement.

11

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(626,351)
48
1,613
1,949
(18)
(141)
(622,900)

(537,953)
48
252
(1,289)
(395)
184
(539,153)

0
0

(272)
(272)

(622,900)

(539,425)

622,898
622,898

539,429
539,429

(2)

4

6
4

2
6
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Whilst many of the Notes to the Financial Statements can be directly cross referenced
to the Statement of Net Comprehensive Expenditure and the Statement of Financial
Position, some provide additional information and cannot be directly cross referenced
(Note 3, 6, 7,14,15,16,17,18,19, 20, 21, 22 and 23).

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning
groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual
issued by the Department of Health and Social Care.
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and
Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.
Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the
accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and
fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) are described below. They have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements
are prepared on the going concern basis.
From the 1st April 2022, the CCG will form part of the Greater Manchester Integrated
Commissioning System (GM ICS).
1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
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1.3 Pooled Budgets
Better Care Fund
The CCG has entered in to a pooled budget with Wigan Council under Section 75 of
the National Health Service Act 2006 to support integrated health and social care,
known as the Better Care Fund (BCF), hosted by Wigan Council. This is a nationally
mandated scheme that commenced in 2015-16.
The pool is jointly controlled by Wigan Borough CCG and Wigan Council. The
Integrated Commissioning Committee, made up of Council and CCG representatives,
govern the use of the fund. The fund is used to commission services that support the
integration of health and social care, which seeks to ensure support for people to be
well, independent and in control of their own care.
The CCG has taken into account and consideration IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial
Statements and IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements.
Under IFRS 10 the CCG considers the pool to be under the joint control of the CCG
and Wigan Council. The S75 agreement states that the pool will be classified as a joint
operation under IFRS 11. The CCG believe this to be consistent with the governance
and control arrangements of the pool.
While there is no single organisational lead commissioner individual schemes have
been allocated a lead. The CCG and Wigan Council have accounted for the pool under
lead commissioning arrangements.
Each scheme within the BCF has been allocated a lead commissioner (either the
Council or the CCG) and accounting for the pool reflects these arrangements. Details
are included in Note 1.4 and 19.
The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure
arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled
budget agreement.
The CCG recognises:
•
•
•
•

The assets the CCG controls;
The liabilities the CCG incurs;
The expenses the CCG incurs; and
The CCG’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

In addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
•
•
•

The CCG’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the
nature of the assets);
The CCG’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and
The CCG’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

Additional Section 75 contribution
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In 2020/21, the CCG has increased its contribution into the pool through the
Section 75 agreement which allows the CCG and Local Authority to pool the
necessary funds to support the health and social care for the borough. This has
been transacted as an aligned scheme with the Local Authority as the lead
commissioner and accounted on a gross basis, therefore both income and
expenditure is recorded in the accounts of the Local Authority. The Local
Authority are acting as a principal under IFRS 15.

1.4 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimated and the methods of estimation and underlying assumptions are continually
reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
1.4.1 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
There is no material estimation uncertainty within the CCG
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1.5 Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard
have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not
disclose information regarding performance obligations that form part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where
revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of
the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the
performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of
the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate
effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS
England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised
in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance
obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is
measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance
obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied
in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. The CCG has no
revenue that has been impacted by IFRS 15, therefore has no significant terms to
include.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses
funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised as income in
accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are
paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding
non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training
funded. The CCG has seconded staff that are recharged to the Local Authority which
is recovered in year.
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1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from
the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to
carry forward leave into the following period.
1.6.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions
Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS
employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State in England and Wales.
The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the
cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities
are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs
is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an
accounting valuation every year.

1.7 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
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1.8 Property, Plant & Equipment
1.8.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative
purposes;
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service
potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and
individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous
purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new
building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
cost; and
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of
components with significantly different asset lives, the components
are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own
useful economic lives.

1.8.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost
directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured
subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held
for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are
no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that
are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets
have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be
materially different from current value in existing use.
1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification,
the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores
the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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1.9 Intangible Assets
1.9.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are
capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business
or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
•
•
•

When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service
potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
Where the cost is at least £5,000.

Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating
system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.
Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not
capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:
•
•
•
•
•
•

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use;
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits
or service potential;
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.

1.9.2 Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount
initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised
in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing
use by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower
of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income
generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing
effects of increases in development costs and technological advances. Revaluations
and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment.
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1.9.3 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not
depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation
of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual
value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of
economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an
asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical
commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect
of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there
is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible noncurrent assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment
loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has
been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service
potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic
benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the
recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had
there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited
to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter
to the revaluation reserve.

1.10 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at
the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the CCG’s surplus/deficit.
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Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently
as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are
separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance
leases.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s
cash management.

1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties.

1.13 Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical
commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return
settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure.
Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence
cases, the legal liability remains with CCG.

1.14 Non-Clinical Risk Pooling
The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual
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contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs
of claims arising.
The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of
particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.15 Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing
healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. The risk pool is controlled
and accounted for by NHS England.

1.16 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG, or a present obligation
that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently
reliably.
A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A contingent asset is
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present
value.
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1.17 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial
instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services
have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
have expired or the asset has been transferred.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•

Financial assets at amortised cost;

•

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;

•

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics
of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.

1.17.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade
receivables and other simple debt instruments.
After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.17.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held
within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest.

1.17.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not
otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term.
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1.17.4 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the CCG
recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial
asset.
The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9,
and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract
assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets,
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit
losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or
stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies,
the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where
repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group
therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments
against these bodies. Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against
the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning
group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these
bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage
3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference
between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any
adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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1.18 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case
of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is,
the liability has been paid or has expired.
1.18.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
•

The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less
cumulative amortisation; and

•

The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance
with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

1.18.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit & Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host
contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be
ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They
are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the CCG’s
surplus/deficit.
The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.

1.18.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and
Social Care, which are carried at historic cost.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial
liability.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.19 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT
is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase
cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.20 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in
expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own risks (with insurance
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the CCG in conjunction with one or more
other parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The CCG records
its share of the income and expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and
cash flows.

1.22 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to
be applied in 2020-21
These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16
implementation deferred until 2022-23, and the government implementation date for
IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
•
•

IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and
interpreted by the FReM.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore permitted.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the
accounts for 2020-21, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Non-patient care services to other bodies *
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits **
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

2020-21
Total
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000

324
20
11
355

25,263
263
381
25,907

19
19

23
23

375

25,931

*The decrease in Non-patient care services relates to the Section 75 additional
contribution by Wigan Council to assist with increased demand in 2019/20 that was
not required in 2020/21.
**Recoveries in respect of employee benefits are seconded staff to The Healthier
Wigan Partnership hosted by Wigan Council, as per IFRS 15 the income is classified
as contract income in 2020/21.
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3 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and
services (contracts)

2020/21

2019/20

The CCG’s service income for 2020/21 all related to performance obligations
satisfied at a point in time and therefore all recognised in year in line with IFRS
15.
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4 Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers

4.1 Employee benefits

4.1.1 Employee benefits expenditure 2020-21

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,458
689
1,171
18
8,336

165
0
0
0
165

6,623
689
1,171
18
8,501

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(11)
8,324

0
165

(11)
8,490

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
8,324

0
165

0
8,490

Employee benefits includes an increase to the annual leave accrual due to the pandemic from £63k to £110k.This is the allowance
to carry over the annual leave to the future year and not a payment to staff.
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Employee benefits expenditure 2019-20
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

6,166
659
1,103
16
(8)
7,935

441
0
0
0
0
441

6,607
659
1,103
16
(8)
8,376

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(381)
7,554

0
441

(381)
7,996

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
7,554

0
441

0
7,996
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4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
2020-21

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2019-20

Permanent Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Total
£'000

(10)
(1)
(1)
(11)

(10)
(1)
(1)
(11)

(310)
(34)
(36)
(381)

The table above relates to staff seconded to Healthier Wigan Partnership hosted by
Wigan Council for the month of April 20 only.

4.2 Average number of people employed
2020-21
Other
Permanently
Number
employed
Number
139.06
2.00

Total
Number

141.06

2019-20
Other
Permanently
Number
employed
Number
137.29
2.50

Total
Number

139.79

Other includes seconded staff. This is based on contracted Whole Time Equivalents (WTE).

4.3 Exit packages and severance payments agreed in the financial year
There have been no exit packages or redundancies in 2020-21 or in the prior year
2019-20.
There are no non-contractual severance payments made following judicial mediation,
relating to non-contractual payments in lieu of notice in 2020-21. Therefore no noncontractual payments were made to individuals where the payment value was more
than 12 months of their annual salary.

No early retirements have been agreed by the CCG for 2020-21. Ill-health retirement
costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and would not be included in the CCG
tables.
4.4 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and
other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care
in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
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Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost
to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions
payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”.
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.38% to 20.6% from 1st
April 2019. From 2019/20, NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the former
rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full cost
and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.
An outline of these follows:
4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing
suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability
as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March
2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme
actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also
be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due
under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend
contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at
31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from
April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to
test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012
valuation. In January 2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control element
of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the
discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and
so the cost control element of the 2016 valuations could be completed. The Government has
set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this process. HMT
valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included
in the valuation process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary
is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced in 2018). The review
will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government
objectives and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not
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impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be
made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
For 2020-21, employers’ contributions of £820,570 were payable to the NHS Pensions
Scheme (2019-20: £783,212) they were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of
14.38% of pensionable pay.
These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 4.1. The costs also include the
6.3% previously transacted through NHS England at a value of £357,485. In addition to the
costs shown on note 4.1, the CCG pay pension on the Chairman’s costs which is included
as part of the Chair and Non-Executive members costs in note 5 as these are not classed as
pay and staff costs in the CCG accounts.
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5. Operating Expenses

2020-21
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England (1)
Services from foundation trusts (2)
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies (3)
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General Ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general (4)
Consultancy services
Establishment (5)
Transport
Premises (6)
Audit fees (7)
Other non statutory audit expenditure - Other services (8)
Other professional fees (9)
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Clinical negligence
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure (10)

2019-20
Total
£'000

369
339,468
19,967
72,464
20,115
62,812
27
68
46,385
2,152
46,029
9
1,735
2
6,260
62
10
19
88
95
19
618,156

2,333
328,079
20,463
63,547
19,135
59,282
115
69
42,823
2,208
8,991
9
954
6
6,810
54
12
45
63
83
23
555,104

7
41
48

7
41
48

(141)
(141)

193
193

156
1
4
1
162

157
1
0
5
163

618,224

555,508
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(1) The reduction in services purchased by CCG’s relates to Greater Manchester
Shared Services previously hosted by Oldham CCG.
(2) A significant proportion of CCG expenditure is for services provided by NHS
Foundation trusts including Acute, Community and Mental Health service
provision.

(3) Purchase of Healthcare from Non-NHS Bodies includes the Hospital Discharge
programme for 2020/21 (£14,151k)
(4) Supplies and Services -general includes an additional contribution to the Local
Authority through the Section 75 pooled budget (£30,540k)

(5) Establishment includes £1,333k of additional Information Technology (IT) relating
to the introduction of Office 365 and Primary Care related IT.
(6) Premises costs include all costs payable to NHS Property Services and
Community Health Partnerships. This includes the costs of the CCG’s
administrative headquarters, and the payments that cover the subsidised and void
space within clinics and health centres, paid by the CCG as commissioner of those
health services within these properties.

(7) Audit fees is the fee paid to Grant Thornton UK LLP for External Audit Services of
£54k including VAT. Plus an additional charge for 2019/20 due to Covid 19.
(8) Other Non-Statutory audit expenditure - Other services relates to the Mental Health
Investment audit completed by Grant Thornton.

(9) Other Professional fees - Internal audit fees are paid through a host NHS
organisation, payments were not included in the Other professional fee as in
previous years. For completeness, the yearly cost for internal audit and Counter
fraud services is £54k which has been paid direct from NHS England.
(10)

3% of the total operating expenditure relates to Covid-19 costs.

In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor
Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a
Clinical Commissioning Group contract with its auditors provides for a limitation of
the auditor's liability, the principal terms of this limitation must be disclosed in a note
to the accounts. The liabilities of the external auditor are limited to £2m.
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6 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2020-21
Number

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

10,920
10,544
96.56%

193,508
184,963
95.58%

11,271
11,072
98.23%

167,405
166,096
99.22%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

914
892
97.59%

366,518
366,299
99.94%

2,786
2,750
98.71%

357,109
356,919
99.95%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices
by the due date, or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

6.1 Late Payment of Commercial Debt
The CCG did not incur any expenses as a result of the late payment of commercial
debt.

7 Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee

Leases shown below include:
•

Payment to NHS Property Services Limited (NHS PS) for the CCG
headquarters at the Wigan Life Centre and Bridgewater Medical Centre.

The costs included within this note are shown within premises and establishment
costs in note 5.
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7.1.1 Payments Recognised as an Expense
2020-21
Buildings
£'000

Total
£'000

2019-20
Buildings
£'000

Total
£'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments

327

327

314

314

Total

327

327

314

314

7.1.2 Future Minimum Lease Payments
Whilst our arrangements NHS PS fall within the definition of operating leases, rental
charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include
future minimum lease payments for the arrangements.
No future minimum lease payments are included due to no formal lease in place.
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8 Properties, Plant & Equipment

Information
technology
£'000
67

Total
£'000
67

Information
technology
£'000
67

Total
£'000
67

67

67

67

67

Depreciation 01 April 2020

7

7

Depreciation 01 April 2019

0

0

Charged during the year

7

7

Charged during the year

7

7

Depreciation at 31 March 2021

13

13

Depreciation at 31 March 2020

7

7

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

53

53

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

60

60

Purchased

53

53

Purchased

60

60

Total at 31 March 2021

53

53

Total at 31 March 2020

60

60

2020-21
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021

Asset financing:

2019-20
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020

Asset financing:

Owned

53

53

Owned

60

60

Total at 31 March 2021

53

53

Total at 31 March 2020

60

60

The Information Technology asset above relates to CCG corporate IT equipment which
includes desktop and laptop builds as well as network connectivity.

8.1 Economic Lives of Assets

Information
Technology

Minimum
Life (Years)
8

Maximum Life
(Years)
8
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9 Intangible Assets

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
205

Total
£'000
205

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2021

205

205

Amortisation 01 April 2020

41

41

Amortisation 01 April 2019

Charged during the year

41

41

Amortisation At 31 March 2021

82

82

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

123

123

Purchased

123

Total at 31 March 2021

123

2020-21

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
205

Total
£'000
205

Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2020

205

205

0

0

Charged during the year

41

41

Amortisation At 31 March 2020

41

41

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

164

164

123

Purchased

164

164

123

Total at 31 March 2020

164

164

2019-20

The computer software purchase relates to the CCG Corporate IT virtual infrastructure,
providing a secure and resilient environment for CCG operations, processes and business
activity.

9.1 Remaining Economic Lives

Computer
Software:
Purchased

Minimum Maximum
Life
Life
(Years)
(Years)
3
3
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10 Trade & Other Receivables
Current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

312
103
114
598
0
(4)
101
2
1,226

1,974
113
499
217
42
(0)
(12)
6
2,839

Total current and non current

1,226

2,839

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

The majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government
to provide funding to CCGs to commission health services, no credit scoring of them
is considered necessary.
No financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired have had terms
renegotiated.

10.1 Receivables Past their Due Date but not Impaired
2020-21
DHSC
Group
Bodies
£'000
By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

99
0
0
99

2020-21
Non
DHSC
Group
Bodies
£'000
0
2
38
40

2019-20

2019-20

DHSC
Group
Bodies

Non DHSC
Group
Bodies

£'000

£'000
0
0
95
95

The above table shows the monies owed to the CCG that are over 30 days overdue.
The debt over six months relates to premises costs for a GP Practice which is being
actively progressed to resolution with support of the Local Medical Committee (LMC).
The CCG has provided for impairments for all receivable from non DHSC bodies in
line with IFRS 9 in 2020-21.

45
0
96
141
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11 Cash & Cash Equivalents

2020-21
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2020
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2021

2019-20
£'000
6
(2)
4

2
4
6

4
2019-20
0
£'000
4
2
4
4
6

6
2018-19
0
£'000
6
4
(2)
6
2

Made up of:
Patients’
held by the
clinical
commissioning group, not included above
Cash
withmoney
the Government
Banking
Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

60
0
6

20
0
2

Balance at 31 March 2020

6

2

Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above

0

0

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Balance at 01 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2021
Balance at 31 March 2020
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12 Trade & Other Payables

Current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue*
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals**
Social security costs
Tax

196
121
5,407
16,999
107
97

818
1,729
255
18,873
104
95

Other payables and accruals***
Total Trade & Other Payables

4,947
27,874

4,051
25,925

Total current and non-current

27,874

25,925

*The Non-NHS and other payables, Revenue includes payments to the Local Authority, Care
homes and General Practice.
** Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals includes the March 2021 prescribing accrual
(£10,611k).
***Other payables include outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021
(£123k) and General Practice contract payments through Co-Commissioning
(£3,073k).

There are no liabilities included above for payments due in future years under
arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years.
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13 Provisions
Current
2020-21
£'000

Current
2019-20
£'000

Continuing care
Total

371
371

530
530

Total current and non-current

371

530

A provision has been made in the CCG’s accounts for an estimate of the likely future
costs of NHS Continuing Healthcare claims, where patients have submitted a request
to the CCG for a review of their continuing healthcare eligibility for periods of care from
1 April 2013.

The provision is based upon claims made against the CCG which have not yet been
fully assessed, and where the likelihood of success is greater than 50%, a provision
is made. The likelihood of success is estimated by the Continuing Care team
responsible for assessing claims. The costs are then estimated based on the average
cost of nursing care per week.

There are no costs included in the provisions for NHS Resolution as at 31 March 2021
in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the CCG.

Under the Accounts Directions issued by NHS England on 24 February 2015, NHS
England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing
Healthcare claims relating to previously unassessed periods of care before the
establishment of CCGs. The legal liability to discharge these claims remains with the
CCG.
The total value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions to 31 March 2013,
which is accounted for by NHS England on behalf of the CCG is £100,919 as at 31
March 2021 and a contingent liability of £125,600.

121

13.1 Provisions

The table below shows the breakdown of the provisions made by the CCG in 2020-21 and expected timing for discharge.

Balance at 01 April 2020

Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2021
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2021

Continuing
Care
£'000

Total
£'000

530

530

(18)
(141)
371

(18)
(141)
371

371
371

371
371
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14 Contingencies
2020-21
£'000
Contingent liabilities
Continuing Healthcare
Net value of contingent liabilities
Contingent assets
GL Hearn Rates Rebates
Net value of contingent assets

2019-20
£'000

97
97

97
97

238
238

86
86

The CCG has a contingent liability relating to the NHS Continuing Healthcare claims on the
CCG for periods of care from 1st April 2013. This is based upon the claims that are less than
50% probable as assessed by the Continuing Healthcare team.

The CCG has a contingent asset relating to GP rates rebates which are being managed by
GL Hearn and NHS England. The increase is due to additional information received in year.
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15 Financial Instruments

15.1 Financial Risk Management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces
in undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a
much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the
risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the CCG’s Standing Financial Instructions and
policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
CCG and internal auditors.
15.1.1 Credit Risk
Because the majority of the CCG revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial
year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables
note.
15.1.2 Liquidity Risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.
The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not,
therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
15.1.3 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process,
financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would
apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to
contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase
and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity
or market risk.
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16 Financial Assets

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2020-21
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2021
Items not classed as Financial Instruments
Total Trade and other Receiveables, cash and cash equivalents

182
130
116
4
433

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020
Items not classed as Financial Instruments
Total Trade and other Receiveables, cash and cash equivalents

Total
2020-21
£'000
182
130
116
4
433
797
1,230

Total
2019-20
£'000

70
1,909
542
6
2,527

These balances are reported within the Statement of Financial Position and also Note
10 and Note 11. The Fair Value cost is as above.

70
1,909
542
6
2,527
318
2,845
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17 Financial Liabilities

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2020-21
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2021
Items not classed as Financial Instruments
Total Trade and other payables

21
11,076
16,574
27,671

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2020
Items not classed as Financial Instruments
Total Trade and other payables

33
12,554
13,140
25,726

Total
2020-21
£'000
21
11,076
16,574
27,671
203
27,874

Total
2019-20
£'000
33
12,554
13,140
25,726
199
25,925

These balances are those reported within the Statement of Financial Position and also
Note 12. The Fair Value cost is as above.

As required to report, the CCG has no payables to the Department of Health, and all
liabilities are expected to discharge in one year or less.
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18. Operating Segments

The CCG considers that they have only one segment which is commissioning
of healthcare services which is consistent with internal reporting.

Wigan Borough CCG
Total

Gross
Net
Total
Income
Total assets
Net assets
expenditure
expenditure
liabilities
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
626,725
(375)
626,351
1,407
(28,245)
(26,838)
626,725
(375)
626,351
1,407
(28,245)
(26,838)
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19. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
Pooled Budget – Better Care Fund
The CCG has entered in to a pooled budget with Wigan Council to support integrated
health and social care, known as the Better Care Fund (BCF), hosted by Wigan
Council and governed through the Section 75 agreement. This is a nationally
mandated scheme that commenced in 2015-16.
The pool is jointly controlled by Wigan Borough CCG and Wigan Council. The Wigan
Health and Wellbeing Board, made up of Wigan Council and CCG representatives,
govern the use of the fund. The fund is used to commission services that support the
integration of health and social care, which seeks to ensure support for people to be
well and independent and in control of their own care.
Each scheme within the BCF has been allocated a lead commissioner (either the
Council or the CCG) and accounting for the pool reflects these arrangements. This is
transacted on net basis.
The total value of the pool in 2020-21 is £45,119k (£44,684k in 2019-20). The CCG
contribute £25,687k (£24,452k in 2019-20) to the pool which provides funding to the
revenue schemes of the pool. The council contribute £20,824k (£21,278k in 2019-20)
to the pool of which £4,554k (£5,008k in 2019-20) is from the Disabled Facilities Grant,
which pays for the capital schemes of the pool.
The CCG lead commission schemes to the value of £5,572k in 2020/21(£5,317k
in 2019-20). The remainder of the schemes are lead commissioned by Wigan
Council.
The Council contributes 100% of the capital funds therefore the underspend on the
Disabled Facilities Capital Grant of £2,438k (£1,046k in 2019-20) is accounted for by
Wigan Council. This money is specifically earmarked for the Council within the terms
of the pooled budget.
Additional contribution through Section 75 agreement
In 2020/21, the CCG has increased its contribution into the pool through the Section 75
agreement which allows the CCG and Local Authority to pool the necessary funds to
support the health and social care for the borough. This has been transacted as an
aligned scheme with the Local Authority as the lead commissioner and accounted on a
gross basis, therefore both income and expenditure is recorded in the accounts of the
Local Authority. The Local Authority are acting as a principal under IFRS 15.
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Better Care Fund Pooled Budget Memorandum 2020-21

Income
Revenue
Capital Grant
Capital Grant Underspend from 2019/20
Total Income
Expenditure
Revenue expenditure
Capital expenditure
Total Expenditure

CCG
£000

Wigan Council
£000

Pool
£000

25,687

16,270
4,554

25,687

20,824

41,957
4,554
1,046
47,557

5,572

36,385
3,162

41,957
3,162

5,572

39,547

45,119

Total Underspend

-2,438

Revenue Underspend / Overspend
Capital Underspend

0
-2,438

Section 75 additional contribution 2020-21
CCG
£000

Wigan Council
£000

30,540
30,540

0
0

0

30,540

Total Expenditure

0

30,540

Total Underspend

0

0

Income
Revenue
Total Income
Expenditure
Revenue expenditure
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Better Care Fund Pooled Budget Memorandum 2019-20

Section 75 additional contribution 2019-20
CCG
£000

Wigan Council
£000

Income
Revenue
Total Income
Expenditure
Revenue expenditure

0
0

24,340
24,340

24,340

0

Total Expenditure

24,340

0

0

0

Total Underspend
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20 Related Party Transactions

Governing Body Members
The following are members of the Wigan Borough CCG Governing Body, who
have declared interests with organisations that the CCG conduct business with.
For Governing Body members only organisations that the CCG have transacted
with are listed within the payments section of this note, although all interests
declared are listed in the narrative.
Professor Harris (Accountable Officer) is the Chair on the Board of Trustees for
Survivors Manchester Charity and a Presiding Justice at Manchester Courts.
Mr McKevitt (Chief Finance Officer) is the Treasurer/Chief Finance Officer at
Wigan Council. Mr McKevitt is also a Director at Leigh Sports Village and Wigan
Football Company.
Dr Dalton (Chair) is a GP, GP Trainer and GP Appraiser. He is a director at
Shakespeare Surgery Ltd and Shakespeare Services Ltd. He is also a minor
shareholder in Shakespeare Surgery Ltd, a company that provides GMS GP
services to the NHS and a minority shareholder in Shakespeare Services that
provides services to Non-NHS organisations and private individuals in the area
of travel, training and health advice. Shakespeare Surgery is a shareholder of
Health First ALW Community Interest Company, which acts as a provider of
various health services and a mechanism for GP federated working. Dr Dalton
is also a member of the North West Leadership Academy Board.
Dr Davies (Clinical Governing Body Member) is a GP partner in the Dicconson
Group Practice.
Dr Wong (Clinical Governing Body Member) is a partner GP at Old Henry Street
Medical Practice.
Dr Jolles (Clinical Governing Body Member) Shareholder and Director at
Shakespeare Surgery

Mrs Forshaw (Nurse Lay member) has no interests to declare.
Mr Armer (Lay Member) is the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE)
representative at Lancashire and South Cumbria Integrated Community Service
(ICS).
Mr Costello (Lay Member) was the former Deputy Chief Executive of Wigan
Council and is the Chair of Wigan & Leigh College from January 2017.
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Dr Adamou (Secondary Care Doctor) Consultant Psychiatrist at South West
Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.

Members not in post as at the 31st March 2021.
Canon Smith (Lay Member) was the Diocesan Director of Education for the
Church of England in the Diocese of Manchester. He was also a National
Society Council member and a Manchester University General Council
member.
Dr Wahie (Clinical Governing Body Member) is a GP Partner at Pennygate
Medical Practice. His wife works at Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust (Royal Preston Hospitals) and he has a family member who
works at County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust.
Dr Kumar (Clinical Governing Body Member) is a GP at The Chandler Surgery.
This practice is a member of the Health First Federation. He is also Associate
Dean of Primary Care and Public Health Education, Health Education North
West.
Dr James (Clinical Governing Body Member) is a GP at Braithwaite Road
Surgery
Dr Shah (Clinical Governing Body Member) is a GP at Elliott Street Surgery.

Details of related party transactions in 2020-21 are as follows:
Payments made to
Related Party
(Expenditure)
£000
P92003 - The Dicconson Group Practice
P92007 - Old Henry Street Medical Practice
P92653 - Shakespeare Surgery
Northwest Boroughs NHS Foundation Trust
Wigan Council

Receipts from Related Of which amounts owed to
Party (Income)
Related Party (Creditors)
£000
£000
1,737
1,033
429
32,510
68,878

0
0
0
0
335

174
57
26
68
3853

Of which amounts due from
Related Party (Debtors)
£000
0
0
(1)
0
71
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During the year, the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent department.
The most significant of these, not already listed above, are listed below.

Payments made to
Related Party
(Expenditure)
£000
Wrightington Wigan And Leigh NHS Foundation Trust
Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Bolton NHS Foundation Trust
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust

Receipts from Related
Party (Income)
£000
246,152
19,951
18,297

13,887
10,651

Of which amounts owed to
Related Party (Creditors)
£000
0
0
0
0
0

Of which amounts due from
Related Party (Debtors)
£000
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36
0
0
0

2019-20 Related Party transactions are listed below for comparative purpose

The CCG had no material transactions with other government department and other
central and local government bodies that have not been listed above.

21 Events after the Reporting Period
There are no adjusting post balance sheet events on the financial statements of the
CCG.

103
0
0
0
0
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22 Financial Performance Duties
CCGs have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended).
In accordance with the financial rules set by NHS England the CCG has spent
£626m so generating a break even position.
The CCG’s performance against those duties was as follows:

Revenue Resource Limit

626 m

Net Operating Resources

(626)m

Break even

0

The table below shows the year on year comparable of the Financial
Performance of the CCG.

Expenditure not to exceed income
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2020-21
Target
626,734
626,359
6,662

2020-21
Performance
626,725
626,351
5,931

2019-20
Target
563,914
537,983
7,422

2019-20
Performance
563,884
537,953
6,110

Note: Expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue
and capital in the financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the
notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other
amounts accounted for as received in the financial year (whether under
provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
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23 Losses and Special Payments

23.1 Losses

Total Number
of Cases
2020-21
Number
Store losses
Cash losses
Total

0
1
1

Total Value of Total Number of
Cases
Cases
2020-21
2019-20
£'000
Number
0
1
1

Total Value of
Cases
2019-20
£'000

2
0
2

The above loss relates to the late notification of the cancellation of training courses.
In addition, Greater Manchester Shared Service (GMSS) have transacted a loss for
Wigan GP practice laptops that have been lost or stolen at a value of £1,195. The
assets are controlled and accounted for by GMSS.
23.2 Special payments
There were no special payments made in 2020/21.

5
0
5

